

UNIVERSITY OF TERAMO FACULTY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE

PhD in "Veterinary Medical Sciences, Public Health and Animal Welfare"

XXXII CYCLE

The lipidomic analysis in the veterinary field: Study of the red blood cell membrane lipid profile in physiological and pathological conditions.

A dissertation presented by

Paraskevi Prasinou, ESR n. 4

SDS (VET08)

2020

Rep-eat









ESR n.4 Paraskevi PRASINOU

The lipidomic analysis in the veterinary field:

Study of the red blood cell membrane lipid profile in physiological and pathological conditions

Tutors:

Andrea Boari, University of Teramo

Alessandro Gramenzi, University of Teramo

Co-Tutors:

Carla Ferreri, ISOF - National Research Council (CNR) Bologna Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu, Lipinutragen, Bologna Kyriakos Papadopoulos, National Center for Scientific Research "Demokritos" (NCSR), Athens, Greece

Abruzzo Region

University of Teramo, 2020



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 713714

Co-funding institutions University of Teramo













Declaration

I, Prasinou Paraskevi, declare that this thesis is an original report of my research, has been written by me and has not been submitted for any previous degree or professional qualification. The experimental laboratory work is entirely my own work; the collaborative contributions have been indicated clearly and acknowledged.

Our work on the erythrocyte membrane lipidome in healthy dogs (presented in chapter 2.2.1) has been published in Frontiers in Veterinary Science, section Animal Nutrition and Metabolism: *The erythrocyte membrane lipidome of healthy dogs: creating a benchmark of fatty acid distribution and interval values*, by Paraskevi Prasinou, Paolo Emidio Crisi, Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu, Morena Di Tommaso, Anna Sansone, Alessandro Gramenzi, Benedetta Belà, Francesca De Santis, Andrea Boari, Carla Ferreri. Front. Vet. Sci. (2020) doi:10.3389/fvets.2020.00502

Teramo, July 2020













ABSTRACT

The role of lipids in health and disease in humans has been recognized for many decades and over the last fifteen years there has been an intense effort to develop suitable methodologies to discover, identify, and quantitatively monitor lipids in biological systems. That led to a dramatical increase on the use lipidomics in search of new possible biomarkers or to better understand pathological mechanisms. The cell membrane lipidomics is based on homeostatic balance of the fatty acid metabolic pathways and can give us important information on the composition activity and the cause of oxidative stress in the cellular membranes. Erythrocyte membrane lipidomic analysis offers some new perspectives in nutraceuticals and personalized health interventions in order to help therapies at molecular level, to maintain the best homeostasis possible in a pathological condition. Several studies have shown modification of the phospholipid content of cell membranes and point to alterations of the enzymic activity on the fatty acid metabolic pathways in diabetic patients.

Using a protocol widely tested in human profiling, in the present study erythrocyte membrane lipidome was examined in healthy and diseased dogs. In particular, a cluster composed of 10 cis fatty acids, present in membrane glycerophospholipids and representative of structural and functional properties of cell membrane, was chosen and quantitatively analyzed. This cluster consists of: 2 saturated fatty acids (SFA: palmitic and stearic acids); 3 monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA, palmitoleic, oleic and cis-vaccenic acids); 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-6 (PUFA, linoleic, dihomo-gamma linolenic, arachidonic acids); 2 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-3 (PUFA, eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids).

For the purpose of this study, blood samples were collected from 68 clinically healthy dogs, including 30 males (6 neutered) and 38 females (12 sterilized), weighting from 2.6 to 43 kg, aged from 2 to 156 months (median 41). The interval values and distribution for each fatty acid of the cluster were determined, providing the first panel describing the healthy dog lipidomic membrane profile. We used these interval values to evaluate correlations between FAME types, families and lipid indexes with the dog characteristics and the results showed an interesting correlation to bodyweight increase. More specific, with the increase of the bodyweight, an increase in palmitic acid and in the total levels of SFA, while a decrease of the omega-6 and the total PUFA was observed.



The same intervals when then used to evaluate diseased dogs:

1) 49 dogs affected with chronic enteropathy (CE), consisting of 17 females (7 spayed) and 32 males (1 neutered), with a median age of 47 months (range 4–144). Interestingly, the CE dogs had higher values of palmitic acid and lower levels of stearic acid compared to healthy dogs, with an overall reduction of total SFA. In addition, the CE dogs showed reduced content of LA and increased DGLA when compared to healthy dogs.

ii) 12 dogs affected with diabetes mellitus (DM), consisting of 7 females (5 spayed) and 5 males (1 neutered), with a median age of 131 months (range 94–181). The results obtained showed increased levels of palmitoleic and oleic acids as well as the total MUFA content on DM dogs when compared to the healthy dogs. These fatty acids cannot derive from the enzymatic transformation of palmitic acid by the delta-9 desaturase and their increased levels indicate an accelerated Δ 9 desaturase activity on the DM dogs. The activation of this enzymatic transformation is known to be related to the insulin response and the carbohydrate management, which is connected to lipid biosynthesis through the pyruvate and acetyl-CoA pathways.

In the current study, we provided the first panel of erythrocyte membrane fatty acids in healthy dogs choosing a cohort representative for the main structural and functional roles of these hydrophobic molecules in the cell membrane compartment. and demonstrated a first utility of the interval values established for healthy dogs to evaluate the condition of these two pathological conditions. The results obtained from this study indicate that the erythrocyte membrane lipidome of animal samples may be successfully applied in veterinary medicine and provide important of the cell membrane status in physiological and pathological conditions and a better understanding to how membranes are influenced by dietary habits.





CERTIFICATE BY RESEARCH TUTORS:

FACULTY OF VETERINARY MEDICINE -UNIVERSITY OF TERAMO

I undersigned Andrea Boari, in my quality of tutor at the Faculty of Veterinary Medicine of the University of Teramo, Italy, confirm that Paraskevi Prasinou has carried out her activity as scheduled in her career development plan, at our institution:

- from the 3rd of April 2017 until the 9th of April 2018,
- from the 11th of June 2018 until the 9th of October 2018,
- from the 11th of November 2018 until the and 6th of January 2019
- from the 8th of April 2019 until the 25th of June 2019,
- from the 27th of July 2019 until the and 9^h of October 2019

and finally

- from the 11th of November 2019 until 2rd of April 2020.

Andrea Boari

Audreopter '





CERTIFICATE BY RESEARCH TUTORS: NATIONAL CENTRE OF SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH – NCSR 'DEMOKRITOS'

I undersigned Kyriakos Papadopoulos, in my quality of tutor National Centre of Scientific

Research - NCSR 'Demokritos', Athens, Greece, confirm that Paraskevi Prasinou has carried

out her activity as scheduled in her career development plan, at our institution:

- from the 10^{th} of April 2018 until the 10^{th} of June 2018

and then again

- from 26th of June 2019 until 26th of July 2019.

Kyriakos Papadopoulos

KAponadare





CERTIFICATE BY RESEARCH TUTORS:

CNR BOLOGNA RESEARCH AREA, INSTITUTE OF ORGANIC SYNTHESIS AND PHOTOREACTIVITY – ISOF

I undersigned Carla Ferreri, in my quality of tutor at CNR Bologna Research Area, Institute of Organic Synthesis and Photoreactivity – ISOF, Bologna, Italy, confirm that Paraskevi Prasinou has carried out her activity as scheduled in her career development plan, at our institution:

- from the 10^{th} of October 2018 until the 10^{th} of November 2018

and then again

- from the 7th of January 2019 until 7th of April 2019.

Carla Ferreri

Carlo Ferrer





CERTIFICATE BY RESEARCH TUTORS: LIPINUTRAGEN S.R.L.

I undersigned Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu, in my quality of tutor at Lipinutragen s.r.l., Bologna, Italy, confirm that Paraskevi Prasinou has carried out her activity as scheduled in her career development plan, at our institution:

- from the 10th of October 2019 until the 10th of November 2019.

Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu

Chryseoteues Charyilialgler

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The current project has been supported by Rep-Eat-H2020-MSCA-COFUND 713714. Funded by the European Union, the Abruzzo Region and the University of Teramo and I would like to express my gratitude to them for organizing and supporting this international project that promotes science and collaboration.

The bigger part of the experimental process of this project took place in the Veterinary Faculty of the University of Teramo but the project was product of important collaborations where I had the opportunity to work with different people, learn new things and open my horizons. So to the laboratories I went during my secondment period, Lipinutragen s.r.l. and the Institute of Organic Synthesis and Photoreactivity – ISOF at the National Research Council (CNR) Bologna, as well as the National Center for Scientific Research "Demokritos" (NCSR) in Athens, which was the first place I went to in secondment, thank you for opening your doors for me, teaching me and inspire me.

This thesis also received support from several institutions such as Department of Veterinary Medical Sciences, University of Bologna and the Veterinary Hospital Portoni Rossi. Thank you to all the people from these institutions that supported our ideas.

A big thanks to prof. Barbara Barboni that coordinated this project and to dr. Germana di Falco, Luana Greco and the rest of the Repeat project for being always available to help during these past years.

To my fellow REPEAT students that through collaboration and support we went through this journey together.

An even bigger thanks to my supervisors in Teramo, professors Andrea Boari and Alessandro Gramenzi for giving me this opportunity, for their support and helped bring forward this project.

To my external tutor in NCSR, Kyriakos Papadopoulos that welcomed me to his lab and he gave me the opportunity to expand my knowledge and to dr. Marios Krokidis for a great collaboration and for the support and confidence he showed in me.

To my external tutors in Bologna, dr. Carla Ferreri and dr. Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu a thank you is not enough. I am grateful for everything you have done for me, for the learning opportunities and working experience, for your guidance and your endless support.

To Anna Sansone, that contributed a big amount to my training and who was always there to offer me her help to whatever I might need.

To the people in the Faculty that that worked more directly with me and contributed to this project, dr. Paolo E. Crisi and dr. Francesca De Santis and also to the people that we had the opportunity to collaborate in a mutual project dr. Alessia Luciani, dr. Isa Fusaro and dr. Morena di Tommaso.

Also, I would like to express my gratitude to Anna Chiara Manetta and Lorella Di Giuseppe that even though they were not involved with the REP-EAT Project their support and help was enormous and they were by me at all times and they were essential for the practical completion of this thesis. For the same reason and even more I would like to thank prof. Giorgio Vignola for opening the doors to his lab for me and always being there to solve my problems and with a big smile.

I am grateful for all my colleagues but moreover I was lucky enough to create some friendships that made this experience worth even more. So a very big thanks to all my friends that soon became my family in Teramo....

I felt immediately at home here at Teramo since from the first day Angelo took me and my fellow Repeats under his wings and decided that he had to introduce us to all the nice things Teramo has to offer. Thank you numero uno..

To Sandra that we always used to mixing the languages together, so bad that we are ending up with a headache.

To Natalia, that has the biggest heart, 'I $\lambda \omega \omega \varepsilon \nu \beta \alpha \beta \nu$ '

To my favorite niño, Rodrigo that we can always find something small to disagree on and that gives me such joy.

To Dany, my 'little brother' for all the late night talks in the corridor.

To Rosie, that offered me a huge support and that everyday at work I am looking forward for our first morning coffee together.

To Claudio for all his help and his delicious pizzas.

To Matteo that whenever things got tough he always knew what I need – beer.

To Jamine and Marisol for being there with a smile.

To Marina that somehow learns about all the events around the area faster than the locals. To Mohammad that the more I get to know him the more I see the beautiful person he is. To my 'pedakia' Erik and Maku that in a period I was always away from my friends and you made me feel I had a family again.

And of course to Juliana who is always there for me and with who we have a lot of places yet to visit... Thank you for your friendship and for all the beautiful moments we shared together.

A big thank you to my family and friends from Greece to whom I will address in Greek. Στην οικογενειά μου που χωρίς εκείνη δε θα μπορούσα να τα έχω καταφέρει. Στην μαμά μου τη Λαμπρίνή, στον αδερφό μου το Δαμιανό, στην αδελφή μου τη Λένα ένα τεράστιο ευχαριστώ για την συμπαράστηαση που μου δώσατε σε όλες τις δύσκολες στιγμές αυτών των χρόνων. Στον πατέρα μου Γιάννη για την στήριξή του. Στη θεία μου Νάση που χωρίς εκείνη ίσως να μην είχα βρει το κουράγιο να προχωρήσω σε ένα διδακτορικό. Σε όλη την υπόλοιπη οικογένεια, τους θείους και τα ξαδέρφια μου για την ψυχολογική τους στήριξη.

Στους φίλους ακόμα και αν δεν τους βλέπω συχνά αλλά τους έχω πάντα μες στο μυαλό μου και μου δίνουν δύναμη, Στάθη, Τζίμη, Βιολέττα και Βιβή μακάρι να μπορούσα να σας βλέπω όποτε σας έχω ανάγκη. Τέλος στον Στράτο που από όλους με έχει στηρίξει περισσότερο σε όλη αυτή την προσπάθεια. Σας ευχαριστώ.

Table of Contents

Abstract	1
Acknowledgements	7
List of Figures	
List of Tables	
List of Abbreviations	14
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1 Lipids	16
1.2 Lipidomics	17
1.3 Lipidomics in the Veterinary field	21
1.3.1 Chronic Enteropathy in the Veterinary field	21
1.4 Aims and Objectives	23
Chapter 2: LIPIDOMIC ANALYSIS	
2.1 MATERIALS AND METHODS	26
2.1.1 Chemicals	
2.1.2 Inclusion criteria and samples collection	
2.1.2.1 Ethical Statement	27
2.1.2.1 Dogs 2.1.2.2 Healthy Dogs	27
2.1.2.3 Dogs diagnosed with Chronic Enteropathy	
2.1.2.4 Dogs diagnosed with Diabetes Mellitus	29
2.1.3 Lipidomic analysis of the blood samples	29
2.1.3.1 Isolation of phospholipids from erythrocyte membranes 2.1	
2.1.3.2 Thin Layer Chromatography - TLC	
2.1.3.3 Transesterification procedure	31
2.1.3.4 Gas Chromatography (GC)	31
2.1.3.4.1 Calibration procedure	
2.1.3.4.2 GC Analysis of FAME	
2.1.3.5 Statistical Methods	
2.2 RESULTS	40
2.2.1 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in healthy dogs	40
2.2.1.1 Interval Values	42
2.2.1.2 The correlations of fatty acids with healthy dog characteristics	

2.2.1.3 The correlations of fatty acids with Age	
2.2.1.4 The correlations of fatty acids with Bodyweight	50
2.2.1.5 Examination of FA between Male and Female dogs	
2.2.2 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in dogs with CE	56
2.2.3 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in dogs with DM	62
2.2 DISCUSSION	66
2.3.1 Healthy Dogs	66
2.3.2 Dogs diagnosed with Chronic enteropathy	70
2.3.3 Dogs diagnosed with Diabetes Mellitus	73
Chapter 4: Conclusion	76
References	78
Annexes	90

List of Figures

Figure 1: Structural demonstration of fatty acids16
Figure 2: The main transformations of the SFA-MUFA pathway17
Figure 3: The structure of fatty acids considered in the present work
Figure 4: The 8 steps of the fatty acid-based erythrocyte membrane lipidomic analysis
Figure 5: Calibration curves of the 10 fatty acids
Figure 6: The temperature program of the GC
Figure 7: Representative GC chromatogram of the FAME
Figure 8: Distribution of the values in the population of HD for the individual FA
Figure 9: Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of HD46
Figure 10: Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for HD using age and each FA
type and family48
Figure 11: Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for HD using age and lipid
indexes
Figure 12: Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for HD using bodyweight and
each FA type and family50
Figure 13: Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for HD using bodyweight and
lipid indexes
Figure 14: Differences between Male and Female HD for each type of FA54
Figure 15: Differences between Male and Female HD for the lipid indexes
Figure 16: Distribution of the values of the population of CE dogs for the individual FA with the
reference interval values obtained from HD60
Figure 17: Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of CE dogs with the reference interval
values obtained from HD61
Figure 18: Distribution of the values of the population of DM dogs for the individual FA with the
reference interval values obtained from HD64
Figure 19: Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of DM dogs with the reference interval
values obtained from HD65
Figure 20: The main transformations of the SFA-MUFA pathway74

List of Tables

Table 1: The red blood cell – RBC with all classes of lipids	20
Table 2: The materials used on this project with the corresponding suppliers	26
Table 3: Complete blood count, serum chemistry and urine parameters evaluated to deter	mine the
healthy status of enrolled healthy dogs	27
Table 4: The 10 fatty acids that were chosen for this study	32
Table 5: Characteristics of the recruited healthy dogs	40
Table 6: Interval values of the 10 fatty acids cohort	43
Table 7: Data of the fatty acids of erythrocyte membranes of our HD cohort together with	i the data
reported in previous literature	44
Table 8: Cohort of 10 fatty acids of male vs female HD	52
Table 9: Characteristics of the recruited CE dogs	56
Table 10: Cohort of 10 fatty acids of the CE dogs	58
Table 11: Characteristics of the recruited DM dogs	62
Table 12: Cohort of 10 fatty acids of the DM dogs expressed as mean and SD	62

List of Abbreviations

- AA, ARA Arachidonic Acid
- ARE Antibiotic-Responsive Enteropathy
- BCS Body Condition Score
- CE Chronic Enteropathy
- DGLA Dihomo-Gamma-Linolenic Acid
- DHA Docosahexaenoic Acid
- DM Diabetes Mellitus
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EPA Eicosapentaenoic Acid
- FA Fatty Acid
- FAME Fatty Acid Methyl Esters
- FRE Food-Responsive Enteropathy
- GC Gas Chromatography
- HD Healthy Dogs
- IBD Inflammatory Bowel Disease
- IRE Immunosuppressant-Responsive Enteropathy
- LA Linolenic Acid
- LCFA Long Chain Fatty Acid
- MUFA Monounsaturated Fatty Acids
- PBS Phosphate-Buffered Saline
- PC Phosphatidylcholine
- PE Phosphatidylethanolamine

- PLE Protein-Losing Enteropathy
- PS Phosphatidylserine
- PUFA Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids
- RBC Red Blood Cell
- SFA Saturated Fatty Acids
- UC Ulcerative Colitis
- VTH Veterinary Teaching Hospital

CHAPTER 1: Introduction

1.1 Lipids

Lipids are molecules essential for life with important biological roles within structural, functional and signaling activities. They are known to be highly dynamic since they are constantly changing along with physiological, pathological, and environmental conditions (van Meer et al. 2018). The structural disposition of protein channels and lipid components influencing fluidity and permeability, as well as the presence of specific fatty acid components in membrane phospholipids, involving receptor functioning and intra/inter cellular signaling, provide proper conditions for physiological operations (Giacometti et al.2017; Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu 2012). Fatty acids (Fig.1), as structural components of membranes and inflammation/anti-inflammatory mediators, have well-known protective and regulatory effect (Ferreri et al. 2017)

SFA - Saturated fatty acids	MUFA - Monounsaturated	PUF	A - Polyunsaturated fatty acids:
	fatty acids	ω3	ω6
Palmitic Stearic	Palmitoleic Oleic Vaccenic	EPA DHA	Linoleic Diomo-gamma-linolenic Arach <mark>i</mark> donic
	88 ⁸⁷⁰ 888		Cores Cores

Figure 1. Structural demonstration of fatty acids according to the three fatty acid families (SFA, MUFA and PUFA)

Lipids are molecules essential for life with important biological roles within structural, functional and signaling activities. They are known to be highly dynamic since they are constantly changing along with physiological, pathological, and environmental conditions (van Meer et al. 2018). The cell membrane lipidomics is based on homeostatic balance of the fatty acid metabolic pathways (Fig.2) and can give us important information on the composition activity and the cause of oxidative stress in the cellular membranes (Giacometti et al. 2017; Berliner and Watson 2005; Tsimikas et al. 2006).



Figure 2. The main transformations of the SFA-MUFA pathway. The SFA (palmitic and stearic acids) transform into MUFA (palmitoleic, oleic and vaccenic acids) with the help of enzymatic activity (elongase and $\Delta 9$ desaturase).

1.2 Lipidomics

Lipidomics is the discipline that gathers lipids, not only considering lipid structures and their transformations, but also providing a "dynamic" interpretation of lipid diversity and functions in view of cellular, metabolic and environmental conditions influencing living organisms (Han 2016). The lipidomic research covers a wide range of topics, going from physiological to oxidative and pathological processes (Ni et al. 2019; Zhao et al. 2014). With the use of lipidomics a large set of data can be acquired, giving important information about the entire lipidome and its variations as a fingerprint of health status (Quehenberger et al. 2010; Wong et al. 2019).

The physiological importance of lipids is illustrated by the numerous diseases to which lipid abnormalities contribute including atherosclerosis, diabetes, obesity, and Alzheimer's disease (Watson 2006). Cholesterol has been early identified as an important risk factor of heart disease (Kuburovic et al. 2017; Bays et al. 2017).

Many diseases are characterized by dysregulated lipid metabolism and alterations of lipid profiles that can precede the onset of diseases, rather than being a consequence (Markgraf et al. 2016), allowing the development of specific disease biomarkers.

Lipidomic approaches were applied to study diseases ranging from cancer to metabolic diseases such as obesity and diabetes (Wang et al 2003; Señars et al. 2003; Berliner and Watson 2005; Holland and Summers 2008Sewell et al. 2012; Fan et al. 2015; Rojas-Gutierrez et al. 2017).

The role of lipids in health and disease in humans has been recognized for many decades and over the last fifteen years there has been an intense effort to develop suitable methodologies to discover, identify, and quantitatively monitor lipids in biological systems. That led to a dramatical increase on the use lipidomics in order to discover biomarkers or to better understand pathological mechanisms

The development of shotgun lipidomics accelerated the process of gathering information on thousands of lipid molecules in different organisms and conditions, going from yeast, virus and bacteria to murine models and humans (Jain et l. 2013; Klose et al. 2012; Pradas et al. 2018; Zhao et al. 2015). In particular, the membrane lipidome has a central place in a multidisciplinary context of biophysical, biological, pharmacological and clinical studies that demonstrates its importance in fundamental processes such as cell formation, regeneration and metabolic regulation (Casares et al. 2019; Ferreri et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2015). Focusing on membrane glycerophospholipids, the analysis of the two fatty acid chains esterified to the glycerol moiety led to the discovery of positional and geometrical isomers and of the homeostatic balance created by these hydrophobic molecules, based on the fact that the fatty acid structures influence bilayer thickness, permeability, fluidity and membrane protein functions (Casares et al/ 2019; Ferreri et al. 2016; Zhu et al. 2015; Diaz et al. 2019;Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu. 2012) [10-14]. In Figure 3 the main fatty acid types are shown, that can be saturated (SFA), monounsaturated (MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) (Prasinou et al. 2020).



Figure 3. (A) The structure of fatty acids considered in the present work. Together with the common names, the abbreviations describe the position and geometry of the double bonds (e.g., 9c for palmitoleic acid), as well as the notation of the carbon chain length and total number of double bonds (e.g., C18:1). For polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) in the parenthesis their acronyms are indicated. (B) Molecular structures of glycerophospholipids with the two fatty acid residues at the C-1 and C-2 positions of the glycerol moiety (in red), whereas in the C-3 position the polar head group is connected (examples of polar heads: ethanolamine, serine and choline).

Application of fatty acid-based membrane lipidomics to human health is a hot topic of research, comparing healthy controls with disease subjects (Sansone et al. 2016; Amézaga et al. 2018; Gai et al. 2019; Harris et al. 2013). Lipidomic analysis of tissue highlights local

alteration, however the necessity of sequential biopsies may be unpractical in a first screening clinical setting, as it occurs in diseases such as cancer (Bardelli et al. 2017). Plasma was considered to follow a similar lipidomic pattern of that of the tissues (Arab 2003), however nowadays it is well known that the lipid content of plasma can be greatly affected by the recent dietary intake (Timlin and Parks 2005; Barrows and Parks 2006). Lipidomic analysis of the red blood cell seems to overcome these limitations: indeed, erythrocytes come in contact with all the bodily districts as they travel for the duration of their life (approximately 120 days), and they are informative of metabolic, nutritional and healthy conditions of long term dietary habits (Ebaugh et al. 1953); therefore it can be considered a representative cell of the general health status (Table 1). Secondly, blood sampling necessary for lipidomic analysis is a routinely performed technique, non-invasive with the possibility to obtain several samples over time. Furthermore, analyses carried out on plasma give information about lipid metabolism of a few weeks before withdrawal, whereas blood cell membrane fatty acids (e.g. RBC) account for more stable information obtained from metabolic transformations together with stabilized dietary contributions (Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu 2012).

FATTY ACID	Adipose tissue (%rel)	RBC (%rel)	LIVER (%rel)	RETINA (%rel)	BRAIN (%rel)
18:2, omega-6, LIN	10.5	9.3	17.5	1.4	0.6
20:4 , omega-6, AA	0.3	15.2	7.7	9.6	7.7
20:3, omega-6, DGLA	0.2	1.5	1.6	nd	1.2
20:5, omega-3, EPA	traces	0.7	0.4	0.1	traces
22:6, omega-3, DHA	0.3	3.2	3.4	19.7	7.2
SFA	27.2	43.1	42.0	48.2	45.9
MUFA	59.7	23.0	23.8	14.2	29.7
PUFA	13.1	33.3	32.0	37.2	23.4

Table 1. The red blood cell - RBC with all classes of lipids. Looking at all the different tissues it can be observed that the families of fatty acids have a similar contribution across tissues but different quantities of each fatty acid characterize the specific tissue.

Fatty acid analysis can be carried out starting from a non-invasive blood withdrawal, separating blood fractions that contain molecular information at different metabolic levels [(Harris et al. 2012; Furtado et al. 2019). In fact, while plasma informs on the daily fatty acid dietary intakes, cell membrane fatty acids result from more complex contributions of physiological and metabolic processes together with nutritional intakes. Erythrocytes are the most numerous cell

type in blood (Sender et al. 2016) and their membrane homeostasis derives from the distribution of the various fatty acid types, playing roles in several functions, such as for example oxygen distribution. Having lost DNA very early, RBC fatty acids cannot come from biosynthesis, but derive from exchange with lipoproteins and tissues. In this scenario, it is worth mentioning that eukaryotic cells need essential fatty acids (EFA), such as omega-3 and omega-6 PUFA, that must be taken daily from the diet in order to be processed enzymatically in the body and provide long chain PUFAs. The PUFA pathways, together with SFA and MUFA, contribute to the formation of the cellular lipid pool and subsequently to the specific fatty acid biodistribution in RBC membranes as well as in the various organs. The RBC fatty acid composition is informative of levels reached in tissues (fig, like muscle and liver, and also in tissues not withdrawable during life, like retina and brain (Makrides et al. 1994; Baur et al. 2000; Acar et al. 2012; Abbott et al. 2012).

Analysis of erythrocyte membrane lipidome represents a powerful diagnostic tool in humans for assessing the quantity and quality of fatty acids and for the follow-up of the membrane fatty acid remodeling that is associated with different physiological and pathological conditions (Ferreri et al. 2017; Acar et al. 2006).

1.3 Lipidomics in the Veterinary field

The analysis of erythrocytes in animals is also reported in veterinary, monitoring different health conditions and supplementations (Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu 2015; Stoecle et al. 2011; Mehta et al. 1991). However, a systematic study of the membrane fatty acids of domestic animals (dogs and cats) to evaluate the healthy membrane balance for different animal species and pathologies has not yet been established.

1.3.1 Chronic Enteropathy in the Veterinary field

Canine chronic enteropathies (CE) are chronic, inflammatory processes that affect the gastrointestinal tract of dogs and, according to the response to subsequentially therapeutic trial, are represented by food-responsive enteropathy (FRE), antibiotic-responsive enteropathy (ARE) and immunosuppressant-responsive enteropathy (IRE). Dogs not responding to treatment are categorized as having non-responsive enteropathy (NRE) (Washabau et al. 2010; Dandrieux 2016).

In addition to this classification, dogs with loss of protein across the gut are grouped as proteinlosing enteropathy (PLE), highlighting the more guarded prognosis of this particular form of CE compared to dogs with normal serum albumin concentration (Craven et al 2005; Allenspach et al. 2007).

The dysfunction in the interaction between the mucosal immune system, the intestinal microbiota and dietary components are considered the trigger for the aberrant inflammatory response, however knowledge on the underlying mechanisms of chronic enteropathy are still in its infancy (Hall 1994; German et al. 2003; Washabau et al. 2010; Suchodolski et al. 2012). Lipids are critical to cell membrane structure and fluidity, mucus production and barrier integrity; furthermore, fatty acids are incorporated into phospholipids of the membrane bilayer and they are recognized as key components of multiple signal transduction cascades, including those associated with the activation and resolution of inflammation (Serhan et al. 2008).

In the recent years along with the development of the molecular medicine, membrane lipidome and fatty acid-based functional lipidomics became important tools to examine the membrane compartment, evidencing a relationship between health and lipidome composition (Hu et al. 2009; Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu 2012; Ferreri et al. 2017) and lipid alterations have been observed in several canine conditions including idiopathic hyperlipidemia (Xenoulis et al. 2007), diabetes mellitus (Seage et al. 2018), renal disease (Behling-Kelly 2014; Smith et al. 2017), parvoviral or systemic infections (Yilmaz and Senturk 2007; Gültekin et al. 2017).

Lipidomic analysis of tissue highlights local alteration, however the necessity of sequential biopsies may be unpractical in a first screening clinical setting, as it occurs in diseases such as cancer (Bardelli et al. 2017). Plasma was considered to follow a similar lipidomic pattern of that of the tissues (Arab 2003), however nowadays it is well known that the lipid content of plasma can be greatly affected by the recent dietary intake (Timlin and Parks 2005; Barrows and Parks 2006). Lipidomic analysis of the red blood cell seems to overcome these limitations: indeed, erythrocytes come in contact with all the bodily districts during their life of 120 days, and they are informative of metabolic, nutritional and healthy conditions of long term dietary habits (Ebaugh et al. 1953); secondly, blood sampling necessary for lipidomic analysis is a routinely performed technique, non-invasive with the possibility to obtain several samples over time.

Increasing evidence, in both humans and rodents, suggest that inflammation alters lipid utilization in the intestine. Indeed, ulcerative colitis (UC) and active and inactive Crohn disease patients had a significantly higher proportion of tissue saturated fatty acids (SFA) and long-

chain ω -3 and ω -6 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) with a concomitant decline in MUFA (Pacheco et al. 1987; Nishida et al. 1987; Buhner et al 1994; Fernandez-Banares et al. 1997). Membrane phospholipids of circulating erythrocytes in IBD patients had higher concentrations of linoleic acid and total ω -6 PUFA, without difference in ω -3 levels compared to control group (Ueda et al. 2008). Recently, significant variances were identified in the plasmatic phospholipid profiles of dogs with inflammatory bowel disease and food-responsive diarrhea (Kalenyak et al. 2019). At molecular level, it is also known that SFAs induce inflammatory signalling by stimulating toll-like receptors TLR2 and TLR4, whereas PUFA and, in particular the omega-3 docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) is able to contrast such cascade (Hwang et al. 2016). Mechanisms for the activation of Toll-like receptor 2/4 by saturated fatty acids and inhibition by docosahexaenoic acid. (*Eur. J. Pharmacol. 785*, 24–35). On the other hand, long chain fatty acids (LCFA) have different roles in the regulation of the intestinal barrier and functions, therefore the fatty acid profile of the individuals has become more and more important for the deep understanding of the molecular asset that influences pathological conditions (Ma et al. 2019).

1.4 Aims and Objectives

In human studies, there has been a contribution to research in membrane fatty acid-based lipidomics making the arbitrary choice of analyzing a specific fatty acid cohort of erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids, made of 10 cis fatty acids representative of SFA, MUFA and PUFA families (Ferreri et al. 2016). Their interval values in healthy cohorts were reported in membrane fatty acids by several studies (Heude et al. 2003; Giacometti et al. 2017; Pallot et al. 2019) and in one of the most complete meta-analysis appeared in the literature (Hodson et al. 2008). Taking into account that novel fatty acid pathways and transformations are continuously studied (Sansone et al. 2013) it is important to make the strategic choice of a 10 fatty acids cohort considering their fundamental biochemical/biological roles and the consensus reached about their levels in cell membranes.

By these premises, we considered whether analogous data are reported in domestic animals, finding only a few studies on plasma or other tissues (brain, sperm) and on correlations between dietary uptake and lipidomic profiles of dogs (Snigdha et al. 2011; Hall et al. 2012; Risso et al. 2016; Sieber-Ruckstuhl et al. 2019; Boretti et al. 2020). Limited studies presented a small number of samples (Mehta et al. 1991; Fuhrmann et al. 2006), focusing for example on PUFA

(omega-6 and omega-3), and not deepening the different fatty acid families which are instead important for molecular contribution to membrane homeostasis (Stoeckel et al. 2011).

In addition, analyses conducted on plasma provide information essentially related to the daily dietary intake, while the lipidomic analysis conducted on the erythrocyte membrane provides information derived from endogenous metabolic processes balanced by the effects of the diet (Ferreri et al. 2016).

Although fatty acids are recognized to be crucial for all animals (Siobhan et al. 2017) an effort to build up the methodology for fatty acid-based membrane lipidomics in the veterinary field is missing.

In the current study we propose a systematic methodology for erythrocyte fatty acid-based membrane lipidomics in healthy dogs, extending our previous studies of human healthy and disease conditions (Ferreri et al. 2016).

The erythrocyte membrane profile is nowadays a well-assessed tool for the evaluation of both stabilized dietary habits and metabolic processes and this is an important information to gather especially in case of intestinal diseases, where the nutritional strategy can be relevant for local and systemic effects. Indeed, it is well known that malnutrition is associated with intestinal diseases (Sugihara et al. 2019) therefore it is often suggested a "balanced diet" that in many cases needs to be personalized.

In the present work we evaluated the composition of fatty acids in erythrocyte membrane phospholipids in a group of clinically healthy dogs (n = 68), focusing on the interval ranges of the 10 cis fatty acid cohort previously used for humans. We are also interested in teh correlations with dog characteristics such as age and bodyweight. The general aim of this work is to create a benchmark of fatty acid interval values in the membrane lipidome of healthy animals, useful to start a systematic approach for the examination of metabolic and nutritional status in healthy and diseased dogs.

Lipidomics is an important aspect of personalized medicine in relation to nutrition and metabolism and it is aiming to individuate molecular profiles and indicate personalized nutrastrategies, useful to keep a healthy balance or to synergize with pharmacological treatments (Brenner 2016). It is therefore of high interest to be able to apply this methology in order to investigate the analysis of erythrocyte membrane lipidome for assessing the quantity and quality of fatty acids in the erythrocyte membrane lipidome of dogs with pathological conditions such as CE and DM.

CHAPTER 2: LIPIDOMIC ANALYSIS

2.1 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1.1 Chemicals

Table 2. The materials used on this project with the corresponding suppliers

Materials	Company	
	TITOLCHIMICA, Pontecchio Polesine (Ro)	
n-Hexane 95%	Italy	
	TITOLCHIMICA Pontecchio Polesine (Ro)	
Methyl alcohol HPLC	Italy	
	TITOLCHIMICA Pontecchio Polesine (Ro)	
Chloroform extra pure 99.5%	Italy	
PBS pH 7,4 RS	Carlo Erba, Milan (Italy)	
Polar Lipid Mixture (quantitative)	MATREYA LLC State College, PA, USA	
non-Polar Lipid Mixture B (quantitative)	MATREYA LLC State College, PA,USA	
Phosphatidylserine	MATREYA LLC State College, PA, USA	
L- <i>α</i> -Phosphatidylcholine	Merck, Darmstadt, Germany	
ALUGRAM Xtra sheets 200x200mm	Carlo Erba, Milan Italy	
Potassium hydroxide, pellets RPE - For analysis	Carlo Erba, Milan Italy	
Sodium sulfate anhydrous RS - For anhydrification	Carlo Erba, Milan Italy	
C16:0 – palmitic acid methyl ester	Merck, <u>Darmstadt Germany</u>	
C16:1 – palmitoleic acid methyl ester Merck, <u>Darmstadt Germany</u>		
C18:0 – stearic acid methyl ester Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA		
9c, C18:1 – oleic acid methyl ester	Merck, Darmstadt, Germany	
11c, C18:1 – vaccenic acid methyl ester	Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA	
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid methyl ester	Merck, Darmstadt Germany	
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3 dihomogammalinolenic acid methyl		
ester	Merck, Darmstadt Germany	
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid methyl ester	Merck, Darmstadt Germany	
EPA omega-3 – C20:5 – eicosapentaenoic acid methyl ester	Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA	
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 – docosahexaenoic acid methyl ester	Merck, Darmstadt Germany	
Supelco 27 component FAME mix	Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA	

Materials were used as received.

2.1.2 Inclusion criteria and samples collection

Blood samples from healthy and diseased dogs were collected in EDTA tubes from the medical staff of the VTH of Teramo and of other Veterinary Hospitals. The samples were stored at 4oC, for a maximum of 15 days.

All the subjects have been selected based on physical examination and haemato-biochemical laboratory workup.

2.1.2.1 Ethical Statement

The project has been approved by the Health Ministry and the Committee on Animal Research and Ethics of the Universities of Chieti-Pescara, Teramo and Experimental Zooprophylactic Institute of AeM (CEISA), Protocol UNICHD12 n.1168 (Chieti, March 19, 2018). In addition, a written informed consent by the animal's owners is being acquired.

2.1.2.2 Healthy Dogs

Inclusion criteria for the study were: healthy dogs without any clinical or pathological evidence of disease accordingly to unremarkable history, physical examination and results of CBC, serum biochemistry and voided urine analysis (Table 3) within the reference range for each dog.

Table 3. Complete blood count, serum chemistry and urine parameters evaluated to
determine the healthy status of enrolled healthy dogs.

Variable (Unit of measure)	Manufacturers
Red Blood Cells (cells/mm ³)	ADVIA 2120;
Hematocrit (%)	Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	
Mean Cell Volume (fL)	
Mean Platelet Volume (fL)	
Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin Concentration	
(g/dL)	
Mean Corpuscular Hemoglobin (pgr)	
Red Blood Cell Distribution Width (%)	
White Blood Cells (cells/mm ³)	
Neutrophils (cells/mm ³)	_
Lymphocytes (cells/mm ³)	_
Monocytes (cells/mm ³)	_
Eosinophils (cells/mm ³)	
Platelets (cells/mm ³)	
Basophils (cells/mm ³)	
Microscopic evaluation blood smear	
Creatinine (mg/dl)	OLYMPUS AU 400;
Urea (mg/dl)	Olympus-Beckman Coulter
Total calcium (mg/dl)	
Ionized calcium (mmol/l)	_
Phosphate (mg/dl)	
Sodium (mEq/l)	
Chloride (mEq/l)	
Potassium (mEq/l)	
Magnesium (mg/dl)	

Variable (Unit of measure)	Manufacturers	
Total proteins (g/dl)		
Albumin (g/dl)		
Albumin-to-globulin ratio	OLYMPUS AU 400;	
Glucose (mg/dl)	Olympus-Beckman Coulter	
Fructosamine (mg/dl)		
Aspartate transaminase (U/l)		
Alanine transaminase (U/l)		
Gamma(γ)-glutamyl transferase (U/l)		
Alkaline phosphatase (U/l)		
Total bilirubin (mg/dl)		
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)		
Triglycerides (mg/dl)		
Lipase (U/l)		
Amylase (U/l)		
c-reactive protein (mg/dl)		
Iron (µg/dL)		
Total Iron Binding Capacity (µg/dL)		
Latent Iron Binding Capacity (µg/dL)		
Iron Saturation (%)		
Urinary Specific Gravity	Refractometer; American Optical	
Urine dipstick examination	Combur10Test; Roche Diagnostic	
Microscopic evaluation urine sediment		

Furthermore, recruited dogs were on commercial diet and did not receive supplements and medications in the previous 4 months (except regular preventive treatments for ecto- and endoparasites and prophylactic vaccination), as ascertained by an interview with the owners.

2.1.2.3 Dogs diagnosed with Chronic Enteropathy

Dogs with primary chronic gastrointestinal signs presented to Veterinary Teaching Hospitals of the Universities of Teramo and Bologna and to the Veterinary Hospital "I Portoni Rossi", Italy, were prospectively enrolled in the study.

Dogs were eligible for the study if they had at least 3-week history of clinical signs consistent with CE, including vomiting, diarrhea, borborygmus, hyporexia, abdominal pain and/or weight loss.

The Canine Chronic Enteropathy Clinical Activity Index (CCECAI) (Allenspach. et al 2007) and the body condition score (BCS) were obtained for each patient and every dog underwent a 5-day course of fenbendazole 50 mg/Kg once a day regardless to the faecal tests results. Moreover, all dogs underwent complete blood count, serum chemistry panel, evaluation of

basal cortisol, c-reactive protein (CRP), canine Trypsin-like Immunoreactivity (cTLI), folate, cobalamin and abdominal ultrasound.

Based on the retrospective diagnosis achieved considering the clinical response to sequential therapeutic trials, dogs affected by chronic enteropathy (CE) were further divided into 4 subgroups (Washabau et al. 2010; Dandrieux 2016). The FRE group included patients with complete remission of the gastrointestinal symptoms within 3 weeks of dietetic trial with a new exclusive diet (hydrolysed or restricted antigen diet); the ARE group included patients with partial or no response to dietetic trial but complete remission of the gastrointestinal symptoms within 3 weeks of antibiotic trial with tylosin at dose of 15 mg/Kg twice a day; the IRE group included patients that neither responded to diet nor to antibiotics and that went to complete remission on antinflammatory/immunosuppressive drugs such as prednisolone or budesonide. Regardless to the diagnosis (i.e. FRE, ARE, IRE), those patients with low albumin concentration (< 2 mg/dl) due to a severe loss of serum proteins into the intestine were further classified into the PLE sub-group. For IRE, NRE and PLE dogs a histopathological analysis of multiple gastrointestinal endoscopic biopsies was available.

Exclusion criteria were the presence of extra-gastrointestinal disease or exocrine pancreatic insufficiency and recent (< 1 month) anti-inflammatory/immunosuppressive and/or antibiotics treatment and dietary ω -3 supplementation in last 4 months.

2.1.2.4 Dogs diagnosed with Diabetes Mellitus

All the diseased animals were selected based on diagnostic international guidelines. Dogs were diagnosed with DM based on consistent clinical signs, and persistent fasting hyperglycaemia and glycosuria.

Dogs with signs of presence of Diabetic Ketoacidosis or other concurrent relevant disorders or/and dogs that received supplementation with $\omega 3$ or medications in the last 4 months were excluded from the study.

2.1.3 Lipidomic analysis of the blood samples

The steps of the protocol procedure are depicted in the following figure (4).



Figure 4. The 8 steps of the fatty acid-based erythrocyte membrane lipidomic analysis.

2.1.3.1 Isolation of phospholipids from erythrocyte membranes

Step 1: separation of red blood cells from plasma, effected on 1 mL of fresh EDTA-treated whole blood sample, by two consecutive centrifugations ($3000 \text{ g} \times 5 \text{ min}$, each) followed by plasma removal. Step 2: cell washings (2 times) with phosphate buffer (0.5 mL) followed by centrifugation ($3000 \text{ g} \times 5 \text{ min}$, each) and elimination of supernatant. Step 3: lysis of erythrocytes by twice mixing cells with distilled water (1 mL), followed by centrifugation ($15000 \text{ g} \times 15 \text{ min}$), in order to eliminate the aqueous layers and to obtain the erythrocyte membrane pellet. Step 4: the pellet was added by a mix of 2:1 chloroform:methanol (2 mL) and partitioned with pure water (1 mL) according to the Folch's procedure (Folch J. et al., 1957), for the lipid extraction. The organic layer was separated and evaporated under vacuum to dryness.

2.1.3.2 Thin Layer Chromatography - TLC

Step 5: This procedure determines the efficacy of the lipid extraction using chloroform/methanol/water 65:25:4 to determine the purity of the phospholipid fraction (Fuchs B. e al., 2011).

2.1.3.3 Transesterification procedure

Step 6: The phospholipid extract was transesterified at room temperature for 10 min with 0.5 M KOH/MeOH to obtain the fatty acid methyl esters (FAME), derived from the fatty acid residues present in membrane glycerophospholipids. This chemical procedure avoids oxidative and degradation reactions and gives the fatty acid composition which represents that of the membrane, as ascertained using appropriate MUFA and PUFA internal standards. FAME were extracted by partition between *n*-hexane (2 mL) and water (0.5 mL), followed by evaporation of the organic phase under vacuum to dryness. Steps 7 and 8: analysis using gas chromatography (GC) as described below.

2.1.3.4 Gas Chromatography (GC)

Step 7 of the protocol (fig 5): GC analysis and identification by standard references.

2.1.3.4.1 Calibration procedure

Firstly, GC analysis of the commercially available reference standard materials for the 10 fatty acids of the cluster was performed as follows:

For this study we chose to study a cluster of 10 fatty acids, which also corresponds to chromatographic peak areas >97%. This cluster consists of: 2 saturated fatty acids (SFA: palmitic and stearic acids); 3 monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA, palmitoleic, oleic and cisvaccenic acids); 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-6 (PUFA, linoleic, dihomo-gamma linolenic, arachidonic acids); 2 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-3 (PUFA, eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids) (table 4).

FATT	Y ACIDS	COMMON NAME	NAME IUPAC	FORMULA
1	C16:0	palmitic	Hexadecanoic	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₁₄ COOH
2	9c,C16:1	palmitoleic	(9Z)-Hexadec-9-enoic	CH₃(CH₂)₅CH=CH(CH₂)7COOH
3	C18:0	stearic	Octadecanoic	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₁₅ CH
4	9c,C18:1	oleic	(9Z)-Octadec-9-enoic acid	CH3(CH2)7CH=CH(CH2)7COOH
5	11c,C18:1	Cis-vaccenic	(E)-Octadec-11-enoic	CH3(CH2)4CH=CH(CH2)7COOH
6	9c,12c,C18:2	Linolenic (LA)	(9Z,12Z)-9,12-Octadecadienoic	CH3(CH2)4CH=CHCH2CH=CH(CH2)7C OOH
7	8c, 11c,14c,C20:3	Dihomo-gamma linolenic (DGLA)	8,11,14-eicosatrienoic	C ₂₀ H ₃₄ O ₂
8	5c,8c,11c,14c,C20:4	Arachidonic (AA)	5,8,11,14-eicositetraenoic	$CH_{3}(CH_{2})_{4}CH=CHCH_{2}CH=CHCH_{2}CH=CHCH_{2}CH=CH(CH_{2})_{3}COOH$
9	EPA	EPA	(5Z,8Z,11Z,14Z,17Z)- 5,8,11,14,17-eicosapentaenoic	CH ₃ (CH ₂) ₁₄ COOH
10	DHA	DHA	4,7,10,13,16-docosatetraenoic	CH ₃ CH ₂ CH=CHCH ₂ CH=CHCH ₂ CH=CH CH ₂ CH=CHCH ₂ CH=CHCH ₂ CH=CH(CH ₂) ₂ COOH

Table 4. The 10 fatty acids that were chosen for this study. Common name, name IUPAC and their chemical formula is demonstrated,

The quantitation of the fatty acids was carried out by calibration procedures, for which the following protocol has been followed:

initially a n-hexane (HPLC grade, Titolchimica) 5mM solution of stearic acid methyl ester (2 mg in 1340 μ L) was prepared and 1 μ l was directly injected to the Agilent 7890B GC system equipped with a flame ionization detector and a DB-23 (50%-Cyanopropyl)-methylpolysiloxane capillary column (60 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 μ m film thickness). The following oven conditions were established to be kept for all the analyses: the initial temperature was 165 °C, held for 3 min, followed by an increase of 1 °C/min up to 195 °C, held for 40 min, followed by a second increase of 10 °C/min up to 240 °C, held for 10 min. The carrier gas was hydrogen, held at a constant pressure of 16.482 psi. The injections were repeated in triplicates.

The second round of injections for calibration was then performed with 0.5 mM solution of the same fatty acid methyl ester (taking 100μ L of the initial solution and diluting with 900μ L of n-hexane), injecting 1 μ L as previously described for triplicates.

The same protocol was carried out using dilutions of 0.05mM, 0.005mM and 0.0005mM of stearic acid methyl ester.

In all the injections a calibration curve was created using the software of the GC equipment (Agilent 7890B GC system).

Using the concentration of 0.0005mM for methyl stearate, the corresponding peak area was detectable but not quantifiable, indicating this concentration as the limit of detection (LOD) of the specific GC system (<0.5nM). The same protocol has been followed for all the fatty acids of the cohort. Calibration curves were obtained for the quantitative analysis of each peak of the chromatogram and are shown below in Figure 5.






Figure 5. Calibration curves of the 10 fatty acids at high (0.5-5mM) and low (0.001-0.5mM) concentration ranges, chosen as representatives of the SFA, MUFA and PUFA families present in the erythrocyte membrane phospholipids.

2.1.3.4.2 GC Analysis of FAME

The FAME mixture obtained from the erythrocyte membrane pellet was dissolved in 20μ L of n-hexane and 1μ L was directly injected to the Agilent 7890B GC (Agilent, Milan) system equipped with a flame ionization detector and a (50%-cyanopropyl)-methylpolysiloxane capillary column (60 m, 0.25 mm i.d., 0.25 µm film thickness) (DB-23, Agilent; Milan). The initial oven temperature was 165 °C, held for 3 min, followed by an increase of 1 °C/min up to 195 °C, held for 40 min, followed by a second increase of 10 °C/min up to 240 °C, held for 10 min (figure 6).



Figure 6. The temperature program of the gas chromatograph. Total program duration: 87 minutes. 165°C for 3 minutes. Increase to 195°C for 40 minutes (rate 1°C/min). Increase to 240°C for 10 minutes (rate 10°C/min). Increase to 250°C for 10 minutes.

The carrier gas was hydrogen, held at a constant pressure of 16.482 psi. FAMEs were identified by comparison with the retention times of standard references. In agreement with previously reported procedures, satisfactorily separating all the 10 fatty acids, without superimposition of other peaks [(Sansone A. et al., 2016) (Amézaga J. et al., 2018) (Giacometti G. et al., 2017) (Sansone A. et al., 2013)]. A representative chromatogram is demonstrated below on Figure 7.



Figure 7. Representative GC chromatogram of the FAME obtained from dog erythrocyte membrane phospholipids after work-up, as described in the main text. The 10 fatty acids chosen for the cluster are satisfactorily separated and recognized by appropriate standard references. The sum of their areas corresponds to >97% of the total peak areas.

The group of 10 fatty acids corresponds to chromatographic peak areas >97%, and consisted of: 2 saturated fatty acids [SFA: palmitic (C16:0) and stearic acids (C18:0)]; 3 monounsaturated fatty acids [MUFA, palmitoleic (C16:1), oleic (9c,C18:1) and cis-vaccenic (11c,C18:1) acids]; 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-6 [PUFA, linoleic (LA, C18:2), dihomogammalinolenic (DGLA;C20:3) and arachidonic (ARA, C20:4)]; 2 polyunsaturated fatty acids omega-3 [PUFA, eicosapentaenoic (EPA, C20:5) and docosahexaenoic (DHA, C22:6) acids]. Step 8: Using the calibration curves, the quantitative values for each peak were obtained as μ g/mL allowing to calculate also the total fatty acid contents (total SFA, total

MUFA, total PUFA), ratios between the families (SFA/MUFA, omega-6/omega-3) and three indexes (unsaturation index, peroxidation index, PUFA balance). The obtained data for each fatty acid is expressed as % of its quantity (% quant. rel.) respect to the sum of the 10 fatty acid quantities taken as 100%.

2.1.3.5 Statistical Methods

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6.01 software (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). All data were evaluated using a standard descriptive statistic and reported as mean \pm standard deviation (sd) or as median and range (minimum-maximum), based on their distribution. Normality was checked graphically or using the D'Agostino Pearson test. A comparison between 2 groups was done using the unpaired *t* test or the Mann-Whitney test. According to the distribution of data, Pearson or Spearman correlations were used to evaluate the relationship between fatty acids percentages or fatty acids indexes with bodyweight and age. The threshold for the statistical significance (*p* value) was set up at 0.05. The distribution graphs were produced using Past 3.14 software.

2.2 RESULTS

2.2.1 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in healthy dogs

Blood samples were collected from 68 clinically healthy dogs, including 30 males (6 neutered) and 38 females (12 sterilized), weighting from 2.6 to 43 kg, aged from 2 to 156 months (median 41). In the following table (5) the characteristics (breed, sex, age, and bodyweigh) of the cohort of HD are presented.

Table 5. Characteristics of the recruited healthy dogs (n=68). Breed, sex, age and bodyweight are reported. M: male; F: female; Mn: neutered male; Fs: spayed female.

n	Breed	Sex	Age (months)	Bodyweight (kg)
1	Boxer	М	36	30
2	Boxer	F	34	24,5
3	Mixed-breed	Fs	48	8
4	Boxer	F	42	22
5	Mixed-breed	F	63	8
6	Dobermann	F	40	35
7	Mixed-breed	F	75	8
8	Romagna Water Dog	М	38	14
9	Italian Mastiff	М	2	8
10	Romagna Water Dog	F	52	13
11	Mixed-breed	F	12	22
12	Mixed-breed	F	12	21,8
13	Alaskan Malamute	М	29	25
14	Boxer	М	36	35
15	Mixed-breed	Fs	96	29,5
16	Mixed-breed	М	98	17,5
17	Mixed-breed	М	6	17,5
18	Mixed-breed	Fs	20	24,6
19	Mixed-breed	Mn	26	8
20	Golden Retriever	М	112	25,8
21	Italian Mastiff	М	5	29
22	Mixed-breed	Mn	90	14
23	Mixed-breed	М	36	30,1
24	Mixed-breed	Mn	12	6,7
25	Mixed-breed	Fs	60	20
26	Mixed-breed	F	48	16
27	Mixed-breed	Mn	36	22
28	Mixed-breed	М	36	24
29	Border Collie	М	65	30

n	Breed	Sex	Age (months)	Bodyweight (kg)
30	Mixed-breed	Fs	48	28
31	Breton	Mn	48	17
32	Rottweiler	F	9	35
33	Miniature poodle	F	48	2,6
34	Maremma Scenthound	F	24	12
35	Golden Retriever	Fs	156	29
36	Maremma Scenthound	Fs	31	16
37	Border Collie	F	9	10
38	Cocker Spaniel	F	80	15
39	Labrador	Mn	91	30
40	Pinscher	М	83	5
41	Mixed-breed	М	36	4
42	Mixed-breed	М	110	15,85
43	Border Collie	F	18	22
44	Mixed-breed	Fs	118	18
45	Siberian Husky	F	102	24
46	Siberian Husky	Fs	138	26
47	Labrador	Fs	30	28
48	Mixed-breed	М	117	7
49	Labrador	М	6	32
50	Labrador	М	80	43
51	Labrador	М	52	35
52	Labrador	F	122	40
53	Labrador	F	24	32
54	Labrador	F	85	35
55	Labrador	F	24	39
56	Labrador	F	24	30
57	Labrador	F	35	35
58	Labrador	F	50	35
59	Labrador	М	22	43
60	Miniature poodle	Fs	29	6
61	Jack Russell Terrier	М	51	7
62	Cocker Spaniel	М	47	14
63	Rottweiler	F	5	20
64	Mixed-breed	F	21	22,3
65	Miniature poodle	М	95	5
66	Siberian Husky	Fs	51	22,5
67	Jack Russell Terrier	М	69	9,7
68	Mixed-breed	F	25	29,5

The work up of the erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids to obtain the corresponding fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) followed the procedure described in Figure 4, and each step is detailed in the Experimental section.

The FAMEs were separated, recognized and quantified by gas chromatography (GC) as previously described (see Materials and Methods, chapter 2.1.3.4). The cluster of 10 fatty acids contains the following molecules (see Figure 1 for their structures): palmitic (C16:0) and stearic (C18:0) acids as SFA; palmitoleic (C16:1), oleic (9c,C18:1) and vaccenic (11c,C18:1) acids as MUFA; linoleic (LA, C18:2), dihomogammalinolenic (DGLA;C20:3) and arachidonic (AA, C20:4) acids as PUFA omega-6; eicosapentaenoic (EPA, C20:5) and docosahexaenoic (DHA, C22:6) acids as PUFA omega-3.

Evaluation of the 10 peaks of the GC chromatogram was performed using calibration curves (see Materials and Methods, chapter 2.1.3.4.1), obtaining μ g/mL values and then expressing each fatty acid as relative quantitative percentage (% rel. quant.) of the total quantities of the 10 fatty acids recognized and calibrated in the GC analysis.

2.2.1.1 Interval Values

The intervals and the median values obtained for our cohort of healthy dogs are reported in Table 6, together with lipid indexes, derived from the 10 fatty acid values, as follows: omega-6/omega-3 ratio, PUFA balance (omega-3/omega-3 + omega-6), SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation index (UI = MUFA tot \times 1 + C18:2 \times 2 + C20:3 \times 3 + C20:4 \times 4 + C20:5 \times 5 + C22:6 \times 6) and peroxidation index (PI = MUFA tot \times 0.025 + C18:2 \times 1 + C20:3 \times 2 + C20:4 \times 4 + C20:5 \times 6 + C22:6 \times 8) (Hulbert et al. 2006).

Table 6. Interval values of the 10 fatty acids cohort expressed as relative percentages of the μ g/mL quantities detected by gas chromatographic analyses¹ after isolation and work-up of erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids of healthy dogs (n=68). The corresponding values of fatty acid families and lipid indexes are also reported.

Fatty acids ¹	Interval values ²	Median Value
	(min-max)	
C16:0 – palmitic acid	8.2 - 25.8	15.4
C16:1 – palmitoleic acid	0.08 - 0.55	0.25
C18:0 – stearic acid	15.6 - 27.3	20.2
9c,C18:1 – oleic acid	6.9 - 14.3	9.2
11c,C18:1 – vaccenic acid	1.2 - 2.7	1.95
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid	9.2 - 21	14.5
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3	0.4 - 2.3	1.26
dihomogammalinolenic acid		
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid	17.5 - 43.7	35
EPA omega-3 – C20:5 –	0.2 - 1.5	0.66
eicosapentaenoic acid		
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 –	0.2 - 2.5	0.9
docosahexaenoic acid		
Total SFA ³	27.8 - 43	35.4
Total MUFA ⁴	8.7 - 16.7	11.6
PUFA omega-3 ⁵	0.5 - 4	1.75
PUFA omega-6 ⁶	34.9 - 60.8	51
Total PUFA ⁷	32.9 - 61.8	53
SFA/MUFA ⁸	2 - 3.9	3
Omega-6/omega-3 ratio ⁹	12.5 - 83.7	28.4
PUFA balance ¹⁰	0.9 - 7.4	3.3
UI ¹¹	130 - 234	194.8
PI ¹²	101 - 214	171.1

¹Fatty acids are evaluated as FAME (fatty acid methyl esters) after membrane isolation, lipid extraction and derivatization as described in the Experimental section. Structures are shown in Figure 3.

² The values are expressed as percentage of the found quantities (calculated as μ g/mL) from the gas chromatographic analysis, using calibration and quantitation protocols and standard reference compounds for each FAME, as described in Materials and Methods. The GC peak areas of the 10 fatty acids cohort corresponds to ca. 97% of the total peak areas of the chromatogram. The minimum and maximum values obtained from the population of the healthy dogs are shown for each FAME, together with the median value and the corresponding distributions as shown in Figures 11 and 12.

³ Total SFA (Saturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:0 + % C18:0.

⁴ Total MUFA (MonoUnsaturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1.

⁵ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-3 =%EPA + %DHA.

⁶ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-6 = %LA + %DGLA + %ARA.

⁷ Total PUFA = LA + DGLA + ARA + EPA + DHA.

⁸ SFA/MUFA = (% C16:0 + % C18:0)/(% C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1).

 9 Omega-6/omega-3 ratio = (%LA + %DGLA + %ARA)/ (%EPA + %DHA).

¹⁰ PUFA balance = $[(\% EPA + \% DHA) / Total PUFA] \times 100.$

 11 UI = (%MUFA × 1) + (%LA × 2) + (%DGLA × 3) + (%ARA × 4) + (%EPA × 5) + (%DHA × 6).

 ${}^{12}\text{PI} = (\%\text{MUFA} \times 0.025) + (\%\text{LA} \times 1) + (\%\text{DGLA} \times 2) + (\%\text{ARA} \times 4) + (\%\text{EPA} \times 6) + (\%\text{DHA} \times 8).$

A few fatty acids of healthy dog erythrocyte membranes (as control groups) were previously reported (Mehta et al. 1991; Fuhrmann et al. 2006; Stoeckel et al. 2011) and their values are listed in following Table (7).

Table 7. Data of the fatty acids of erythrocyte membranes of our healthy dog cohort (see Table 6 in the main text) together with the data reported in previous literature.

Fatty acids	Interval values ² (min-max)	Ref. 1	Ref. 2	Ref. 3
Number of samples	68	5	8	30
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid	9.2 - 21	7.80	10.13	-
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3 dihomogammalinolenic acid	0.4 - 2.3	-	1.55	-
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid	17.5 - 43.7	28.29	28.05	28.6 - 30.8
EPA omega-3 – C20:5 – eicosapentaenoic acid	0.2 - 1.5	-	-	0.364 - 0.42
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 – docosahexaenoic acid	0.2 - 2.5	-	-	0.22 - 0.28
Total SFA	27.8 - 43	-	41.14	-
MUFA	8.7 - 16.7	-	-	-
Total PUFA omega-3	0.5 - 4	-	1.87	1.35 - 1.65
PUFA omega-6	34.9 - 60.8	-	42.31	44.4-44.8

1. Mehta JR, Braund KG, Hegreberg GA, Thukral V. Lipid Fluidity and Composition of the Erythrocyte Membrane for Healthy Dogs and Labrador Retrievers with Hereditary Muscular Dystrophy. *Neurochem Res* (1991) 16:129-35.

2. Fuhrmann H, Zimmermann A, Gück T, Oechtering G. Erythrocyte and plasma fatty acid patterns in dogs with atopic dermatitis and healthy dogs in the same household. *Can J Vet Res* (2006) 70: 191–196.

3. Stoekel K, Nielsen LH, Fuhrmann H, Backmann L. Fatty acid patterns of dog erythrocyte membranes after feeding of a fish-oil based DHA-rich supplement with a base diet low in n-3 fatty acids versus a diet containing added n-3 fatty acids. *Acta Vet Scand* (2011) 53:57. doi: 10.1186/1751-0147-53-57.

In Figure 8 the distribution graphics for each fatty acid (% rel. quant.) are shown together with their families (SFA, MUFA and PUFA omega-6 and omega-3), whereas Figure 9 shows the distribution graphics of the total PUFA and lipid indexes obtained from the 10 fatty acid values.

Figures 8 and 9 also show minimum and maximum values, as well as the median value of each measured parameter, as listed in Table 6.



Figure 8. Distribution of the values in the population of Healthy Dogs (n=68) for the individual fatty acids and the corresponding families using the data in Table 6 with 95% confidence interval. Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family. Black: the minimum and the maximum value obtained. Green: the median value.



Figure 9. Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of Healthy Dogs (n=68) with 95% confidence interval as reported in Table 6. 1st row: total PUFA, omega-6/omega-3 and SFA/PUFA ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes. Black: the minimum and the maximum value obtained. Green: the median value.

2.2.1.2 The correlations of fatty acids with healthy dog characteristics

We used the above described interval values to evaluate any possible correlations between FAME types, families and lipid indexes with the dog characteristics and the results are demonstrated in the following figures. (breed, sex, age, and bodyweight).



2.2.1.2.1 The correlations of fatty acids with age

Figure 10. Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for healthy dogs (n=68) using age and each fatty acid type and family obtained from erythrocyte membranes (data are reported in Tables 2 and 3 in the main text). Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family.



Figure 11. Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for healthy dogs (n=68) using age and lipid indexes obtained from erythrocyte membranes (data are reported in Tables 2 and 3 in the main text). 1st row: total PUFA, omega-6/omega-3 and PUFA balance ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes.

A correlation with age, was found with eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA, omega-3), that show that along with age the levels of EPA increase (p<0.001, r=0.396).



2.2.1.2.2 The correlations of fatty acids with Bodyweight

Figure 12. Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for healthy dogs (n=68) using bodyweight and each fatty acid type and family obtained from erythrocyte membranes (data are reported in Tables 2 and 3 in the main text). Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family.



Figure 13. Pearson correlation with linear regression and parameters for healthy dogs (n=68) using bodyweight and lipid indexes obtained from erythrocyte membranes (data are reported in Tables 2 and 3 in the main text). 1st row: total PUFA, omega-6/omega-3 and PUFA balance ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes.

From the analysis according to the bodyweight, several fatty acid parameters correlated significantly, as follows: positive correlation with palmitic acid (C16:0; p = 0.001, r = 0.385) and the total amount of SFA (p = 0.001, r = 0.402). The MUFA palmitoleic acid (C16:1) significantly correlated in a positive manner to bodyweight (p = 0.007; r = 0.326). The bodyweight negatively correlated with arachidonic acid (p = 0.036, r = 0.257), the total content of the omega-6 PUFA (p = 0.003, r = 0.361) and the total amount of PUFA (p = 0.004, r = 0.347). Moreover, both UI and PI showed negative correlation with bodyweight (p = 0.031, r = 0.301 and p = 0.037, r = 0.256, respectively). A statistical analysis based on the different breeds of the healthy dogs was not possible because of the limited number of samples for each breed and in addition 24 out of the total 68 (35%) of the healthy dogs recruited for this study were mixed-breed.

2.2.1.2.3 Examination of FA between Male and Female dogs

Subsequently, two groups of male and female healthy dogs were examined to envisage differences of the membrane RBC fatty acid composition between the two genders. Because of the small number of sterilized females (n=12) and neutered males (n=6) we did not consider this additional characteristic to further discriminate groups. The values for the individual FAME and the lipid indexes for male and female healthy dogs are reported as mean \pm SD values in Table 8, always expressed as quantitative relative percentages (% rel. quant.) of each value over the total 10 fatty acids values, as explained above. Significant differences were found for the lower levels of stearic and linoleic acids (p = 0.0126 and p = 0.0266, respectively) and higher levels of palmitoleic acid (p = 0.0344) in female than in male dogs.

Table 8. Cohort of 10 fatty acids expressed as percentages of the found μ g/mL quantities, detected by gas chromatographic analyses of the fatty acid methyl esters (FAME)¹ after isolation and work-up of erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids, of male dogs (M=30) and female dogs (F=38). The corresponding values of fatty acid families and lipid indexes are also reported. The significance as p values is also indicated; italic denotes significativity.

Fatty acids ¹	M (μg/mL %) ² n=30	F (μg/mL %) ² n=38	M vs F p value ^c
C16:0 – palmitic acid	15.88 ± 3.52	15.38 ± 3.53	0.5639
C16:1 – palmitoleic acid	0.35 ± 0.27	0.24 ± 0.10	0.0266
C18:0 – stearic acid	19.62 ± 2.45	21.09 ± 2.23	0.0126
9c,C18:1 – oleic acid	10.07 ± 3.31	9.62 ± 1.85	0.4793
11c,C18:1 – vaccenic acid	1.93 ± 0.35	2.06 ± 0.33	0.1209
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid	15.29 ± 2.65	14.11 ± 1.84	0.0344
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3 dihomogammalinolenic acid	1.36 ± 0.35	1.28 ± 0.39	0.4075
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid	33.65 ± 7.06	34.33 ± 5.25	0.6506
EPA omega-3 – C20:5 – eicosapentaenoic acid	0.76 ± 0.39	0.70 ± 0.32	0.4933
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 – docosahexaenoic acid	1.10 ± 0.61	1.20 ± 0.67	0.5296
Total SFA ³	35.50 ± 4.60	36.46 ± 4.12	0.3697
Total MUFA ⁴	12.35 ± 3.36	11.92 ± 1.84	0.5062
PUFA omega-3 ⁵	1.86 ± 0.89	1.90 ± 0.83	0.8450
PUFA omega-6 ⁶	50.29 ± 6.80	49.72 ± 5.16	0.6944
Total PUFA ⁷	52.15 ± 6.84	51.62 ± 5.30	0.7194

Fatty acids ¹	M (μg/mL %) ² n=30	F (μg/mL %) ² n=38	M vs F p value ^c
SFA/MUFA ratio ⁸	2.98 ± 0.48	3.09 ± 0.36	0.2544
Omega-6/omega-3 ratio ⁹	34.33 ± 19.32	32.78 ± 18.96	0.7423
PUFA balance ¹⁰	3.60 ± 1.67	3.69 ± 1.55	0.8229
Unsaturation Index (UI) ¹¹	191.98 ± 25.47	192.00 ± 20.24	0.9977
Peroxidation Index (PI) ¹²	166.26 ± 29.09	168.09 ± 22.31	0.7705

¹ FAME (fatty acid methyl esters) are expressed as percentage of the found quantities from the gas chromatographic analysis using calibration and quantitation protocols and standard reference compounds for each FAME, as described in Experimental section and Supplementary Information.

² The values are expressed as percentage of the found quantities (calculated as $\mu g/mL$) \pm standard deviation (sd) obtained from the gas chromatographic analyses, using calibration and quantitation protocols and standard reference compounds for each FAME, as described in Supplementary Information. The GC peak areas of the 10 fatty acids cohort corresponds to ca. 97% of the total peak areas of the chromatogram.

³ Total SFA (Saturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:0 + % C18:0.

⁴ Total MUFA (MonoUnsaturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1.

⁵ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-3 =%EPA + %DHA.

⁶ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-6 = %LA + %DGLA + %ARA.

⁷ Total PUFA = %LA + %DGLA + %ARA + %EPA + %DHA.

⁸ SFA/MUFA = (% C16:0 + % C18:0)/(% C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1).

 9 Omega-6/omega-3 ratio = (%LA + %DGLA + %ARA)/ (%EPA + %DHA).

¹⁰ PUFA balance = [(%EPA + %DHA) / Total PUFA] \times 100.

 $^{11}\text{UI} = (\%\text{MUFA} \times 1) + (\%\text{LA} \times 2) + (\%\text{DGLA} \times 3) + (\%\text{ARA} \times 4) + (\%\text{EPA} \times 5) + (\%\text{DHA} \times 6).$

 $^{12} PI = (\% MUFA \times 0.025) + (\% LA \times 1) + (\% DGLA \times 2) + (\% ARA \times 4) + (\% EPA \times 6) + (\% DHA \times 8).$

The corresponding graphical representations are shown below in Figures 14 and 15.



Figure 14. Relative quantitative percentage differences between Male (M, grey, n=30) and Female (F, black, n=38) healthy dogs for each type of fatty acid in the erythrocyte membranes. The values are given as mean \pm SD. Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family. Values significantly different when compared to with each other: (*) p < 0.05. For healthy dogs' characteristics see Table 2. For specific values see Table 8 in the main text.



Figure 15. Relative quantitative percentage differences between Male (M, grey, n=30) and Female (F, black, n=38) healthy dogs for the membrane homeostasis indexes. 1st row: total PUFA, omega-6/omega-3 and SFA/PUFA ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes. The values are given as mean \pm SD. For healthy dog characteristics see Table 2. For specific values see Table 8.

2.2.2 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in dogs with CE

A total of 117 dogs were included in the present study, of these 49 were diagnosed with CE, while 68 were healthy dogs enrolled as control group in the previous study (see Results 2.1). The CE group comprised 17 females (7 spayed) and 32 males (1 neutered), with a median age of 47 months (range 4–144). Table 9 shows age, sex, bodyweight and breed of the cohort of CE dogs.

n	Breed	Sex	Age (months)	Bodyweight (kg)
1	Miniature Poodle	М	84	5,3
2	Labrador	М	12	35,0
3	French Bulldog (Bouledogue)	Μ	15	10,3
4	Staffordshire Terrier	Μ	108	23,0
5	Border collie	Μ	72	25,2
6	English Setter	Μ	48	16,0
7	American Staffordshire Terrier	Μ	47	23,1
8	French Bulldog (Bouledogue)	Fs	22	10,6
9	Mixed-breed	F	42	18,5
10	Jack Russell Terrier	F	10	4,4
11	English Bull terrier	Μ	35	26,0
12	Pitbull	Μ	66	22,0
13	Dogo Argentino	Μ	96	35,5
14	Boxer	М	87	17,0
15	French Bulldog	М	13	7,1
16	German Shepherd	Fs	41	25,0
17	Miniature Poodle	М	83	6,0
18	Malinois	М	24	22,0
19	Maltese	Fs	114	4,0
20	German Shepherd	М	14	28,0
21	Mixed-breed	М	37	36,3
22	Mixed-breed	F	32	12,5
23	Labrador	Fs	76	28,2
24	Dobermann	М	11	30,5
25	Boxer	М	12	32,3
26	Dachshund	F	96	4,0
27	Mixed-breed	F	96	25,0
28	Maltese	F	36	4,0
29	Golden Retriever	М	24	31,0
30	Bolognese	M	104	4,6
31	Italian Segugio	F	48	15,0
32	German Shepherd	М	14	34,5

Table 9. Characteristics of the CE dogs (n=49) involved in the study.

n	Breed	Sex	Age (months)	Bodyweight (kg)
	Dull terrier	Б	22	15.5
33	Builterrier	Г	33	13,3
34	Labrador	М	10	31,0
35	Portuguese Sheepdog (Cao da	Μ	131	12,6
	Serra de Aires)			
36	Jack Russell Terrier	Fs	48	5,5
37	Labrador	F	24	29,7
38	Belgian Shepherd Dog	Mc	45	28,0
	(Groenendael)			
39	Basset Hound	Μ	55	23,0
40	Golden Retriever	Fs	48	28,3
41	Mixed-breed	F	84	7,3
42	Mixed-breed	М	96	17,0
43	Miniature Poodle	Μ	144	6,7
44	Setter Inglese	Μ	4	21,5
45	Mixed-breed	Fs	96	22,5
46	Kurzhaar	М	72	20,2
47	Pitbull	М	12	30,0
48	Golden Retriever	М	144	36,0
49	Boxer	Μ	18	30,0

Values of single fatty acid, total fatty acid contents (total SFA, total MUFA, total PUFA), ratio between the families (SFA/MUFA, omega-6/omega-3), and indexes (unsaturation index, peroxidation index, PUFA balance, EI, D6DI) of study dogs are reported in the following table (10).

Table 10. Cohort of 10 fatty acids expressed as percentages of the found μ g/mL quantities, detected by gas chromatographic analyses of the fatty acid methyl esters (FAME)¹ after isolation and work-up of erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids, of CE dogs (n=49) The corresponding values of fatty acid families and lipid indexes are also reported.

CE dogs (n=49)					
Fatty acids ¹	Mean	SD			
C16:0 – palmitic acid	10,87	1,77			
C16:1 – palmitoleic acid	0,47	0,42			
C18:0 – stearic acid	23,60	2,00			
9c,C18:1 – oleic acid	9,76	1,40			
11c,C18:1 – vaccenic acid	2,12	0,60			
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid	13,23	2,31			
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3 dihomogammalinolenic acid	1,67	0,54			
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid	35,99	2,59			
EPA omega-3 - C20:5 - eicosapentaenoic acid	0,90	0,45			
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 – docosahexaenoic acid	1,39	0,62			
Total SFA ³	34,47	2,39			
Total MUFA ⁴	12,34	1,68			
PUFA omega-3 ⁵	2,29	0,87			
PUFA omega-6 ⁶	50,89	3,17			
Total PUFA ⁷	53,18	3,31			
SFA/MUFA ⁸	2,84	0,38			
Omega-6/omega-3 ratio ⁹	26,03	11,91			
PUFA balance ¹⁰	4,29	1,59			
UI ¹¹	200,63	11,11			
PI ¹²	177,38	12,53			

¹Fatty acids are evaluated as FAME (fatty acid methyl esters) after membrane isolation, lipid extraction and derivatization as described in the Experimental section. Structures are shown in Figure 1.

² The values are expressed as percentage of the found quantities (calculated as μ g/mL) from the gas chromatographic analysis, using calibration and quantitation protocols and standard reference compounds for each FAME, as described in Materials and Methods. The GC peak areas of the 10 fatty acids cohort corresponds to ca. 97% of the total peak areas of the chromatogram.

³ Total SFA (Saturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:0 + % C18:0.

⁴ Total MUFA (MonoUnsaturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1.

⁵ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-3 =%EPA + %DHA.

⁶ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-6 = %LA + %DGLA + %ARA.

⁷ Total PUFA = LA + DGLA + ARA + EPA + DHA.

⁸ SFA/MUFA = (% C16:0 + % C18:0)/(% C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1).

 9 Omega-6/omega-3 ratio = (%LA + %DGLA + %ARA)/ (%EPA + %DHA).

¹⁰ PUFA balance = $[(\% EPA + \% DHA) / Total PUFA] \times 100$.

 ${}^{11}\text{UI} = (\%\text{MUFA} \times 1) + (\%\text{LA} \times 2) + (\%\text{DGLA} \times 3) + (\%\text{ARA} \times 4) + (\%\text{EPA} \times 5) + (\%\text{DHA} \times 6).$

 ${}^{12}\text{PI} = (\%\text{MUFA} \times 0.025) + (\%\text{LA} \times 1) + (\%\text{DGLA} \times 2) + (\%\text{ARA} \times 4) + (\%\text{EPA} \times 6) + (\%\text{DHA} \times 8).$

Dogs affected by chronic enteropathies, regardless to the diagnosis, had higher values of palmitic acid (p < 0.0001) and lower levels of stearic acid (p < 0.0001) compared to healthy dogs, with an overall reduction of total SFA observed in CE dogs (p = 0.02). No differences were observed between healthy and CE dogs in regards of single (palmitoleic, oleic and vaccenic acids) and total MUFA values. CE dogs showed higher EPA (p = 0.02) and DHA (p = 0.02) content, as well as an increased content of total omega-3 PUFA (p = 0.01). In regards of omega-6 PUFA, CE dogs showed reduced content of linoleic acid (p = 0.006) and increased dihomo-gamma-linoleic acid (p = 0.0001) compared to healthy dogs, while no differences were observed in arachidonic acid levels and total content of omega-6 PUFA between CE and healthy patients.

CE dogs showed membranes homeostasis indexes patterns different compared to healthy dogs. In particular, CE dogs had reduced values of omega-6/omega-3 (p = 0.034) and SFA/MUFA (p = 0.001) ratios, and increased PUFA balance (p = 0.035), UI (p = 0.013) and PI (p = 0.014).

No significant differences were observed in fatty acid contents, membrane homeostasis indexes among dogs affected by different forms of CE, or between CE dogs with and without PLE.

A comparative analysis between HD and CE dogs is demonstrated on the following Figures (16 and 17):



Figure 16. Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of CE dogs (n=49) with the reference interval values obtained from HD (see fig 9). for the individual fatty acids and the corresponding families using the data in Table 3 with 95% confidence interval. Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family. Black: reference interval values (see fig 9). Blue: the median value of HD. Red: the median value of CE dogs. A Mann-Whitney test has been performed for the comparison between HD and CE dogs. The p-value is indicated on the top right. Values significantly different when compared to with each other: (*) p < 0.05, (**) p < 0.01, (***) p < 0.001, (****) p < 0.0001.



Figure 17. Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of CE dogs (n=49) with the reference interval values obtained from HD (see fig 10). Healthy Dogs (n=68) with 95% confidence interval. 1st row: total PUFA, ω -6/ ω -3 and SFA/PUFA ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes reference interval values (see fig 10 Blue: the median value of HD. Red: the median value of CE dogs. A Mann-Whitney test has been performed for the comparison between HD and CE dogs. The p-value is indicated on the top right. Values significantly different when compared to with each other: (*) p < 0.05, (**) p < 0.01.

2.2.3 The erythrocyte membrane lipidome in dogs with DM

A total of 80 dogs were included in the present study, of these 12 were diagnosed with DM, while 68 were healthy dogs enrolled as control group in the previous study (see Results 2.1). The 12 dogs affected with diabetes mellitus (DM), were 7 females (5 spayed) and 5 males (1 neutered), with a median age of 131 months (range 94–181). Table 11 shows age, sex, bodyweight and breed of the cohort of the DM dogs.

n	Breed	Sex	Age (months)	Bodyweight (kg)
1	Mixed-breed	М	96,00	
2	Mixed-breed	F	158,00	5
3	Mixed-breed	F	156,00	5,40
4	Mixed-breed	Fs	110,00	
5	Mixed-breed	М	144,00	
6	Yorkshire Terrier	Μ		
7	Mixed-breed	Fs	181,00	8,60
8	Mixed-breed	Fs	94,00	4,90
9	Yorkshire Terrier	Fs	135,00	4,80
10	Cavalier king charles spaniel	М	113,00	12,60
11	Mixed-breed	Fs	112,00	21,90
12	Mixed-breed	Mc	151,00	22,50

Table 11. Characteristics of the DM dogs (n=12) involved in the study.

Table 12. Cohort of 10 fatty acids expressed as percentages of the found μ g/mL quantities, detected by gas chromatographic analyses of the fatty acid methyl esters (FAME)¹ after isolation and work-up of erythrocyte membrane glycerophospholipids, of DM dogs (n=12) The corresponding values of fatty acid families and lipid indexes are also reported.

DM dogs (n=12)					
Fatty acids ¹	Mean	SD			
C16:0 – palmitic acid	14,97	1,61			
C16:1 – palmitoleic acid	0,53	0,32			
C18:0 – stearic acid	21,43	4,19			
9c,C18:1 – oleic acid	10,24	1,12			
11c,C18:1 – vaccenic acid	2,05	0,40			
LA omega-6 – C18:2 – linoleic acid	13,64	1,70			
DGLA omega-6 – C20:3 dihomogammalinolenic acid	1,21	0,24			
ARA omega-6 C20:4 – arachidonic acid	33,69	3,63			
EPA omega-3 – C20:5 – eicosapentaenoic acid	0,91	0,82			
DHA omega-3 – C22:6 – docosahexaenoic acid	1,32	0,64			

Fatty acids ¹	Mean	SD
Total SFA ³	36,40	4,25
Total MUFA ⁴	12,82	1,33
PUFA omega-3 ⁵	2,23	1,29
PUFA omega-6 ⁶	48,54	4,26
Total PUFA ⁷	50,78	3,75
SFA/MUFA ⁸	2,88	0,56
Omega-6/omega-3 ratio ⁹	29,21	17,02
PUFA balance ¹⁰	4,47	2,79
UI ¹¹	190,98	13,28
PI ¹²	167,18	12,19

¹Fatty acids are evaluated as FAME (fatty acid methyl esters) after membrane isolation, lipid extraction and derivatization as described in the Experimental section. Structures are shown in Figure 1.

² The values are expressed as percentage of the found quantities (calculated as μ g/mL) from the gas chromatographic analysis, using calibration and quantitation protocols and standard reference compounds for each FAME, as described in Materials and Methods. The GC peak areas of the 10 fatty acids cohort corresponds to ca. 97% of the total peak areas of the chromatogram.

³ Total SFA (Saturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:0 + % C18:0.

⁴ Total MUFA (MonoUnsaturated Fatty Acids) = % C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1.

⁵ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-3 = %EPA + %DHA.

⁶ PUFA (PolyUnsaturated Fatty Acids) omega-6 = %LA + %DGLA + %ARA.

⁷ Total PUFA = LA + DGLA + ARA + EPA + DHA.

⁸ SFA/MUFA = (% C16:0 + % C18:0)/(% C16:1 + % 9c,C18:1 + % 11c,C18:1).

 9 Omega-6/omega-3 ratio = (%LA + %DGLA + %ARA)/ (%EPA + %DHA).

¹⁰ PUFA balance = [(%EPA + %DHA) / Total PUFA] \times 100.

 11 UI = (%MUFA × 1) + (%LA × 2) + (%DGLA × 3) + (%ARA × 4) + (%EPA × 5) + (%DHA × 6).

 $^{12} PI = (\%MUFA \times 0.025) + (\%LA \times 1) + (\%DGLA \times 2) + (\%ARA \times 4) + (\%EPA \times 6) + (\%DHA \times 8).$

Individual Fatty Acids Sum of families p value = 0.5018 p value =0.8136 p value=0.2721 30 30 30 20.2 21.1 35.4 35.8 10.9 14.8 25 25 25 27.8 8.2 25.8 15.6 Ledneucy 15 10 Lredneucy 15 10 20 **SFA** 815 10 10 5 5 5 0[⊥] 0 0∔ 5 20 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 (ug/mL %) 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 25 30 35 40 45 50 (ug/mL %) (ug/mL %) **Total SFA** C16:0 **C18:0** (*) p value=0.0272 (*)p value=0.0017 p value=0.6517 (*) p value=0.0139 30 20 30 30 0.25 0.43 9.2 10.2 11.6 12.8 1.95 2 25 25 25 0.08 <u>≩</u>15 0.55 14.3 Erequency Frequency 20 Erequency 15 Ereque http://www.and 10 **MUFA** 10 10 5 5 5 5 0[⊥] 0 -1.0 -0.5 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 (ug/mL %) 0[⊥] 0 0 10 (ug/mL %) 5 20 15 10 15 (ug/mL %) 20 25 5 1 2 (ug/mL %) 3 4 9c,C16:1 9c,C18:1 11c,C18:1 **Total MUFA** p value=0.5076 p value = 0.5048 p value = 0.8192 40 30 25 0.9 1.75 0.56 0.66 1.4 25 20-15-10-10-<u></u>∂30 0.2 Ledneuch 15 **PUFA** 10220 omega-3 10 10 5 5 0⊥ -1 0 0 0 1 (ug/mL %) 2 3 1 2 (ug/mL %) -1 0 3 4 0 2 4 6 (ug/mL %) **EPA** DHA **PUFA omega-3** p value=0.2383 p value=0.1591 p value=0.3717 p value=0.1008 30 30 30 40 1.26 13.7 14.5 51 48.4 32.7 25 25 25 1.16 35 Erequency 05 **PUFA** 20 15 10 43.7 Ledneucy 15 10 Frequency 20 60.8 omega-6 15 10 10 10 5 10 5 5 0↓ 0 0∔ -1 10 15 2 (ug/mL %) 0+ 0 5 10 20 25 30 20 1 2 (ug/mL %) 0 3 4 30 40 50 60 70 80 10 20 30 40 50 60 (ug/mL %) (ug/mL %) LA **DGLA PUFA omega-6 ARA**

A comparative analysis between HD and DM dogs is demonstrated in the following distribution Figures (18 and 19):

Figure 18. Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of DM (n=12) dogs with the reference interval values obtained from HD (see fig 9). for the individual fatty acids and the corresponding families using the data in Table 3 with 95% confidence interval. Each member of the fatty acid family is given in a row, the last column being the sum of the corresponding fatty acid family. Black: reference interval values (see fig 9). Blue: the median value of HD. Red: the median value of DM dogs. A Mann-Whitney test has been performed for the comparison between HD and DM dogs. The p-value is indicated on the top right. Values significantly different when compared to with each other: (*) p < 0.05.



Figure 19. Distribution of the lipid indexes of the population of DM dogs (n=12) with the reference interval values obtained from HD (see fig 10). Healthy Dogs (n=68) with 95% confidence interval. 1st row: total PUFA, ω -6/ ω -3 and SFA/PUFA ratios; 2nd row: SFA/MUFA ratio, unsaturation and peroxidation indexes reference interval values (see fig 10). Blue: the median value of HD. Red: the median value of DM dogs. A Mann-Whitney test has been performed for the comparison between HD and DM dogs. The p-value is indicated on the top right.

The results showed an increased level of the MUFA palmitoleic acid (9cis-16:1) and oleic acid (9c,C18:1) as well as the total MUFA content on DM dogs in erythrocyte membrane when compared to the HD.

2.3 DISCUSSION

2.3.1 Healthy Dogs

For the first time the erythrocyte membrane lipidome characterization of the fatty acid content of glycerophospholipids is provided in a cohort of clinically healthy dogs (n=68). The rationale for the choice of 10 fatty acids takes into account the most representative components in terms of structural and functional roles played by such hydrophobic moieties in membrane phospholipids, as well as the nutritionally important polyunsaturated fatty acids (see Figure 1). We arbitrarily chose this cohort for the application to veterinary analyses, taking into consideration previous work done in humans with physiological and pathological conditions (Heude et al. 2003; Hodson et al., 2008; Harris et al. 2012; Sansone et al. 2016; Giacometti et al. 2017; Amézaga et al. 2018; Gai et al. 2019; Pallot et al. 2019;). It is worth underlining that studies reported in literature on fatty acids of erythrocyte membranes in both humans and animals do not report the same cohort of fatty acids. For humans, the meta-analysis reported by Hodson et al, (2018) highlighted 13 SFA, MUFA and PUFA moieties in erythrocyte membrane phospholipids obtained from 9 studies of 321 men and 70 women. In another study on infants, only the total SFA and MUFA values are given without specifying each fatty acid type, whereas for the omega-6 pathway together with the C18 and C20 PUFA long chain fatty acids such as 22:4 and 22:5 are evaluated, which are not commonly reported in other studies (Makrides et al. 1994). With the emerging field of lipidomics, new fatty acid structures are evidenced, such as for example the presence of the n-10 MUFA family, with 6cis-C16:1 (sapienic acid) as positional isomer of palmitoleic acid, and the corresponding geometrical trans isomer (6trans-C16:1). These new markers indicate the metabolic partition of delta-6 desaturase enzymes between palmitic and linoleic acids and the free radical-based transformations (Ferreri et al. 2016) respectively, but it is not possible to define yet their participation and effects for the membrane composition. In model animals as well as in humans, increased or decreased fatty acid levels were found in kidney (Zhao et al. 2012) or liver diseases (Svegliati-Baroni et al. 2019), respectively, and such alterations were correlated with other biochemical markers, however further research are needed to establish normal and altered levels for newly identified fatty acid markers. Considering such complexity, it was evaluated of strategic importance to concentrate on a specific number of fatty acids, i.e., the 10 fatty acid cohort, and on a specific cell compartment, i.e., the erythrocyte membrane, in order to get a simplified, yet representative and significative, approach for the examination of known metabolic and nutritional influences on the biophysically regulated homeostatic control of membrane formation and remodeling. The cohort includes fatty acids that cannot be missed in biological membranes, that are characteristic for each tissue type (Pradas et al. 2018; Ferreri and Chatgilialoglu 2012; Abbott et al. 2012; Harayama and Riezman 2018) and their interval values (minimum and maximum values) in the specific membrane type, such as in erythrocytes, derive from population studies, as previously mentioned.

It is worth mentioning that, when fatty acid analysis is performed, it is very important to ascertain that the subjects did not follow any supplementation during the last 4 months. In the canine diets, it is becoming more and more popular the use of "omega" supplements or "omegaenriched" commercial diets, that lead to the uptake of these essential fatty acids that cannot be prepared by de novo biosynthesis. It is known that such supplementations can change the results of lipid analyses (Walker et al. 2015), therefore we asked this specific information to the owners during the recruitment.

The analytical conditions are also important to ensure the efficient separation of the 10 fatty acid cohort especially of unsaturated fatty acids with the same fatty acid chain length but different geometry and position of the double bonds. In this respect the library of geometrical and positional isomers in our hands plays an important role to check peak superimposition (Sansone et al. 2013; Ferreri et al. 2016; Sansone et al. 2016; Amézaga et al. 2018). The overall fatty acid distribution reported in Table 1 and Figures 2-3 highlights that in the dog erythrocyte membrane lipidome the omega-6 PUFA content is prevalent followed by SFA and MUFA. It is worth underlining that omega-3 fatty acids are present in minimal concentrations, marking the difference with human lipidome (Abbott et al. 2012; Harris et al. 2012; Hall et al. 2012; Ferreri et al. 2016; Sieber-Ruckstuhl et al. 2019; Boretti et al. 2020). Moreover, in healthy dogs the SFAs, stearic and palmitic acids, and the omega-6 PUFAs, arachidonic and linoleic acids, sum up to nearly the 94% of the total RBC fatty acids, as already observed in other mammalian species (Abbott et al. 2012). In the distribution graphs of Figure 2, large interval ranges for the palmitic acid percentage (8.2-25.8) and arachidonic acid (17.5 - 43.7) can be appreciated. It is also interesting to note that 80% of these values describes a narrower range (palmitic acid: 8.5-20%, arachidonic acid: 30-40%). On the other hand, the distribution of linoleic acid values follows a gaussian-like behavior, with a probability distribution symmetric about the mean, showing that data near the mean are more frequent in occurrence than data far from the mean.

The different distributions of SFA, C18 and C20 PUFA omega-6 indicate that it is necessary to gather large sets of these data for mathematical treatment to model their roles in the membrane compositions (Mar 2019). It is also worth pointing out again that the omega-6 are essential fatty acids (EFA), not prepared directly by biosynthesis, and also dogs need the intake of linoleic acid as precursor of other biosynthetically prepared omega-6 fatty acids. The importance of ascertaining the omega-6 dietary supply to animals represents an historical highlight in veterinary medicine, having been noted in canine dermatological problems by Burr and Burr in 1929 (Burr and Burr 1973). Therefore, it is of extreme importance to follow-up the intakes of linoleic acid and its metabolic transformations to DGLA and arachidonic acid, together with their incorporation at the level of cell membranes, since they regulate fundamental structural and functional properties for health in the whole. This information can be integrated in a panel with other biochemical, biomolecular, clinical parameters for a thorough evaluation of health in dogs.

The strength of our cohort of fatty acids is to provide a valuable set of metabolic information to examine: i) data on the PUFA pathways that start from precursors that must be necessarily taken from the diet thus reporting on the omega-6 and omega-3 fatty acid balance, that in dogs such balance is shifted towards the omega-6 family; and ii) data on the SFA-MUFA pathway that starts from the de novo biosynthesis of the first fatty acid in the body, that is the SFA palmitic acid, thus including the effects of insulin response and liver conditions (Han 2016; Abbott et al 2012). From these crucial data sets the influence of enzymatic activities, hormones and nutrients, can be studied and it is possible to use a specific SFA-MUFA-PUFA cohort to examine metabolic profiles, decide nutritional-based strategies and follow-up the changes during physiological and pathological conditions, including oxidative stress (Zhao et al. 2014; Zhao et al. 2015; Ferreri et al. 2016; Han 2016; Ni et al. 2019;). The limitations are due to the small size of our data, compared with the large data set provided by other powerful lipidomic techniques, although the balance cost-effectiveness are important parameters to evaluate in wide applications to population.

The omega-6 EFA linoleic acid and its transformation to DGLA and ARA, which is predominant in dogs, affect not only from the point of view of the membrane structural properties but also affects the membrane response to stimuli. In fact, upon different kinds of stimuli, phospholipase A2 is activated and liberates the fatty acid moieties from the cell membrane phospholipids (Murakami et al. 2010), therefore the membrane fatty acid composition can be considered a precious information of the pro- and anti- inflammatory

predisposition of the organism (Adler et al. 2018; Loef et al. 2019). Indeed, liberation of SFA, MUFA and PUFA fatty acids generates potent mediators, such as prostaglandins, leukotrienes, endocannabinoids and many others, that influence dog metabolism in health and diseases (Bauer et al. 2008; Abramo et al. 2014; Kalenyak et al. 2019). There is a growing attention to the lipidomic analysis in animal studies, as reported recently for variations of phospholipids of whole blood and plasma in canine inflammatory bowel disease (Kalenyak et al. 2019). In this context we believe that the present work on erythrocyte membrane fatty acid cohort in healthy animals could represent the benchmark for assessment of healthy dog molecular profile.

A focus of our approach in dogs was to observe the omega-3 value and its distribution in healthy dogs, since omega-3 are essential fatty acids and EPA and DHA levels derive from the dietary intake of the precursor (alpha-linolenic acid). It is well known that this pathway in animals is less prevalent than omega-6 (Abramo et al. 2014). Our data confirmed low levels and a narrow range (0.5-4) (Table 1) together with a significant age-related increase of EPA (Supplementary Figure 3). It is worth noting that in humans EPA and DHA levels are strongly influenced by dietary intakes, but some studies have shown that age remains a significant determinant of EPA and DHA status regardless of dietary intake (Johnson et al. 2015). Omega-3 are known to have specific anti-inflammatory activities and, being the omega-6/omega-3 ratio naturally high in dogs (12-7-83.7), it is evident that their increase in the cellular environment, influencing this ratio, can exert significant metabolic effects. In this context the establishment of omega-3 levels under various dog health conditions can be interesting to precisely individuate levels of omega-3 to introduce in the regular diets of animals. Limitations of our study are in the non-homogeneous distribution of male and female dogs and in the diversity of breeds, but the prosecution of data collection will certainly compensate such weaknesses.

Considering the correlations found in our work, it is worth underlining that de novo lipogenesis with formation of palmitic acid and palmitoleic acid are known biomarkers of bodyweight increase in animals and humans (Sansone et al. 2016; Guo et al. 2012) and their increase over the normal levels are indicators of metabolic derangements in humans at older ages (Zong et al. 2012). We found positive correlation between bodyweight and the values of palmitoleic, stearic acids and total SFA of our healthy dog cohort. At the same time the negative correlation between bodyweight with all unsaturated indicators (arachidonic acid, PUFA omega-6, UI, PI) indicates a shift of membrane components from unsaturated to saturated moieties, that will be worth of further deepening especially in the dog obesity conditions. An increase of SFA and
MUFA components has been correlated with suppression of inflammatory response in animal models (Guo et al. 2012).

Correlations of the fatty acid data with different breeds need more data, whereas interesting observations could be done related to dog sex. The lower levels of stearic acid and the higher levels of palmitoleic acid detected in male dogs indicate that SFA to MUFA pathway functions more than in females. Palmitoleic acid is a lipokine that travels to muscles and liver, where it improves cell sensitivity to insulin, blocks fat accumulation in the liver (Cao et al. 2008) and seems to be involved in regulating muscle mass (Cao et al. 2008; Lipina et al. 2017). Although preliminarily, this different distribution of FA indirectly indicates differences in metabolism of dogs according to the sex, to be deepened also considering larger numbers of sterilized females and neutered males.

2.3.2 Dogs diagnosed with Chronic enteropathy

The current study suggests that there is a peculiar pattern of red blood cells membrane lipidome in dogs affected by chronic enteropathy, however red blood cells lipidomic analysis does not seem useful to distinguish the different forms of CE at the time of the first visit. This shift in fatty acid patterns are not completely explained by alterations in dietary intake and may be a response to inflammation rather than an etiological factor. Indeed, circulating fatty acids seems correlated with intestinal pro-inflammatory cytokines levels (Wiese et al 2016). Despite increased SFA levels have been observed in rats with experimentally induced ulcerative colitis (Fernández-Bañares et al. 1997; Nieto et al 1998), in the present study CE dogs showed lower total SFA levels compared to healthy dogs. This finding is consistent with the results of a previous study on human ulcerative colitis, in which patients have significantly lower serum percentages of SFA (Wiese et al 2016). In regards of single SFA, the relative quantitative percentage stearic acid (C18:0) was significantly higher and that of palmitic acid (C16:0) was significantly lower than those observed in the healthy subjects, as already observed in erythrocytes membranes of Japanese people affected by Chron disease (Uchiyama et al 2013). This finding, together with higher elongase-6 activity observed, suggest that in the CE dogs, the pathway to form stearic acid from palmitic acid seems hyperactivated.

On the other hand, despite palmitoleic acid levels were higher in the CE group compared to healthy dogs, trending toward significance (p = 0.07), it can be hypothesized that the parallel

Delta-9 desaturase transformation of palmitic to the MUFA palmitoleic acid is reduced in dogs affected by CE. As matter of fact, it is worthy to note that the liver expression of stearoyl-coenzyme A desaturase 1 (SCD1, Delta-9 desaturase), the key enzyme controlling the desaturation of saturated fatty acids, is dramatically inhibited in colitis mice (Chen et al 2008; Wang et al 2016).

It has been hypothesized that IBD patients would have decreased blood and tissue n-3 PUFA due to the inflammatory state. However, looking at the membrane asset in CE dogs higher EPA, DHA and total n-3 PUFA levels were found. Our results indicate to a n-3 accumulation. Indeed, the data observed in this canine cohort are consistent with pattern previously observed in active IBD patients showing a significantly higher fraction of the n-3 PUFA, and DHA (Esteve-Comas et al 1992; Esteve-Comas et al 1993). A further prior study found plasma n-3 PUFA concentrations increased in patient with Chron disease compared to control patients; moreover, in these patients, total n-3 PUFA and EPA levels directly correlates with pro-inflammatory cytokines levels (Scoville et al 2019).

On the other hand, on the present canine cohort is presented an accumulation of n-3 fatty acids accompanied by altered levels of n-6.

The total n-6 PUFA and AA levels did not differ between CE and healthy dogs. On the other hand, the percentage weight of LA was significantly lower and that of DGLA was significantly higher, than those of the healthy subjects. These results point to the similarity of dog with human IBD (Uchiyama et al 2013; Sitkin and Pokrotniesks 2018), in which the metabolism of linoleic acid supported by the Delta-6 desaturase seems to be accelerated than that of healthy individuals (Uchiyama et al 2013; Ito et al 2015). The profile of CE dogs showed an hyperactivation of this enzymatic pathway with faster metabolization of linoleic acid to DGLA in canine CE. Interestingly, in humans, genetic polymorphisms associated with alterations in the metabolism of long chain PUFA from dietary linoleic acid and alpha-linolenic acid have been associated with the risk of developing Chron disease (Costea et al 2010; Costea et al. 2014; Kettunen et al 2012; Ananthakrishnan et al 2017).

In the fatty acid profile of healthy dogs we found that SFAs, stearic and palmitic acids, and the omega-6 PUFAs, arachidonic and linoleic acids, constitute ca. 94% of the total RBC fatty acids, with the palmitic acid (8.2-25.8) and arachidonic acid (17.5 - 43.7) percentages that are the largest in the membrane lipidome with the widest interval ranges. Therefore, the significant changes of palmitic, stearic and linoleic acids levels mirror a relevant metabolic derangement.

On the other hand, in the omega-6 pathway the elevated levels of DGLA assumes a meaning if one considers that in dog metabolism the linoleic acid transformation to gamma linolenic and DGLA acids is the main anti-inflammatory control of the animal, leading to potent antinflammatory eicosanoids, trespassing the role of omega-3 that have much lower levels. Indeed, since the first historical observation of dermatological canine problems (Burr et al. 1973), it should be always recalled that in dogs the omega-3 have not the same physiological role that in human metabolism in controlling inflammation.

We are aware that further and larger studies are needed to asses membrane profiles for dogs health and also to evaluate the role of gene encoding desaturase enzymes in dogs. In addition, should be taken into account that desaturases are usually controlled by feedback regulation and it cannot be excluded that the feedback regulation of PUFA could be altered in canine CE. To further understand the complex interaction occurring in PUFA metabolism is worth to note that DGLA is metabolized by cyclooxygenase (1 and 2) and arachidonate 15-lipoxygenase, into prostaglandins and anti-inflammatory eicosanoids with the ability to antagonize synthesis of AA-derived pro-inflammatory eicosanoids (Sergeant et al 2016).

It is worth noting that also membrane homeostasis indexes are altered in CE dogs, and in particular the n-3 PUFA/n-6 PUFA ratio (n-3/n-6 ratio) that is known to be influenced through diet therapy as important factor for reducing human IBD activity. PUFA are essential elements in the diet since they are not prepared by enzymatic systems as precursors omega-6 linoleic acid and omega-3 alfa-linolenic acid. A high vital membrane n-3/n-6 ratio was effective in maintaining remission in IBD patients (Uchiyama et al 2010). In consequence of this, it could be argued that it is pivotal to establish optimal n-6/n-3 ratio and PUFA balance values also in dogs and diet therapy and nutraceutical interventions should be investigated in detail in canine CE.

The unsaturation and peroxidation indexes are useful parameters for estimating the homeostasis of membranes in terms of protection of the tissues against oxidative damage while maintaining an appropriate environment for membrane function. A low degree of fatty acid unsaturation is present in longevous species and membrane peroxidizability index is inversely related to maximum life span in mammals (Pamplona et al. 1998; Puca et al. 2008). PUFAs may integrate into phospholipids and modify the physical properties of cell membranes, thus increasing membrane fluidity and permeability. Indeed, PUFAs affect in vitro presence of occludin and Zonula occludens-1 (ZO-1) intensity, and DHA limited the effect of the

inflammatory stimulus on occludin, ZO-1 and barrier function, suggesting a role of PUFAs in trans-cellular permeability (Beguin et al. 2013).

Oxidative damage in dogs with IBD has been recently demonstrated (Minnamoto et al 2015; Rubio et al. 2017) and the increased peroxidation index observed in CE fogs of the present study suggests a higher susceptibility of the membranes to peroxidability and oxidative damage. The usefulness of antioxidant treatment alongside the traditional therapeutic approaches, should be investigated in detail in canine CE.

Finally, the positive correlation between folate and arachidonic acid levels can be evaluated also in view of the known correlation in humans between folate and PUFA (Das 2008; Umhau et al. 2006) which brings also important correlation with neurological functions.

2.3.3 Dogs diagnosed with Diabetes Mellitus

Interestingly, this group of diseased dogs showed the values of MUFA palmitoleic acid (9cis-16:1) and oleic (C18:1) different from normality, with an increased content of both of these fatty acids in erythrocyte membrane. These fatty acids cannot come from the diet and their biological meaning is directly derived from the lipid metabolism. In fact, it derives from the enzymatic transformation of palmitic acid to palmitoleic acid and to oleic acid by the delta-9 desaturase (fig 20).



Figure 20. The main transformations of the SFA-MUFA pathway. Along the palmitic acid transformation, there is an increase in the formation of palmitoleic and oleic acid due to an accelerated $\Delta 9$ desaturase enzymatic activity on the DM dogs.

The activation of this enzymatic transformation is known to be related to the insulin response and the carbohydrate management, which is connected to lipid biosynthesis through the pyruvate and acetyl-CoA pathways.

The erythrocyte membrane lipidome of DM dogs may be successfully applied to expand the molecular evaluations in veterinary medicine providing important information of the cell membrane status in physiological and pathological conditions, involving structural and signaling properties.

CHAPTER 4: Conclusion

In the current study, we provided the first panel of erythrocyte membrane fatty acids in healthy dogs choosing a cohort representative for the main structural and functional roles of these hydrophobic molecules in the cell membrane compartment. The panel of 10 fatty acids represents a set of information, chosen for their biochemical, nutritional and metabolic significance, and their reference ranges for healthy dogs can represent a benchmark to examine unhealthy conditions. only by constructing a benchmark of the membrane fatty acid profile of a specific compartment of a living organism, it will be possible to individuate in a holistic and sustainable way the differences between healthy and unhealthy conditions. It is worth to remark that the effects of fatty acids in cellular metabolism departing from the membrane release and remodeling processes are more and more studied also for immune functions (Alarcòn et al. 2020) therefore the knowledge of the membrane asset can be a useful indication for the examination of animal response at molecular level. Indeed, the protocol herein described, including calibration and quantitation procedures, can be applied to large animal populations, with molecular information that are ready to be combined with other medical data sets for mining techniques, which are nowadays under study for the exploitation of disease risks and prevention plans (Frigolet et al. 2017).

Our findings indicate that the erythrocyte membrane lipidome may be successfully applied in dogs with CE, as well as dogs with DM. The lipidomic analysis is demonstrated to provide important information on pathogenesis of the CE and potentially leading to personalized therapeutic intervention targeted to decrease inflammation and to increase protective components. A protocol has been defined for the erythrocyte membrane fatty acid analysis to be used as the methodology for evaluating a high number of animals. In this way we started to create the paradigm of fatty acid-based lipidomic analysis to evaluate health conditions in dogs and demonstrated a second utility in the assessment of the insulin response on the lipid metabolism of diabetic dogs, to be treated with appropriate diet and therapy.

Clinically speaking, since imbalances in lipid metabolism contributes to diverse animal phenotypes and disease states, ranging from inflammation and cancer to metabolic diseases, the study of membrane lipids in normal and pathological states can successfully contribute to monitor health conditions as well as the result of treatments. Membrane lipidomic research in veterinary will provide, as done for humans, deep insights in mechanisms of several diseases, helping to identify molecular targets, patient selection for better treatment response, prediction

and monitoring of treatment efficacy and response to therapeutic measures. In the light of this, membrane lipidomics may become part of the arsenal adopted for clinical diagnostics in veterinary medicine, useful for the evaluation of a disease onset and its progression, representing a potential avenue to individualized treatment and monitoring in different pathological states.

REFERENCES

Abbott SK, Else PL, Atkins TA, Hulbert AJ. Fatty acid composition of membrane bilayers: importance of diet polyunsaturated fat balance. Biochim Biophys Acta (2012) 1818:1309–1317. doi:10.1016/j.bbamem.2012.01.011.

Abramo F, Campora L, Albanese F, della Valle MF, Cristino L, Petrosino S, Di Marzo V, Miragliotta V. Increased levels of palmitoylethanolamide and other bioactive lipid mediators and enhanced local mast cell proliferation in canine atopic dermatitis. BMC Vet Res (2014) 10:21. doi:10.1186/1746-6148-10-21

Adler N, Schoeniger A, Fuhrmann H. Polyunsaturated fatty acids influence inflammatory markers in a cellular model for canine osteoarthritis. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr (2018) 102:e623–e632. doi:10.1111/jpn.12804

Acar N, Berdeaux O, Grégoire S, Cabaret S, Martine L, Gain P, Thuret G, Creuzot-Garcher CP, Bron AM, Bretillon L. Lipid Composition of the Human Eye: Are Red Blood Cells a Good Mirror of Retinal and Optic Nerve Fatty Acids? PLOS ONE (2012) 7:e35102. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035102

Alarcón PA, Manosalva C, Quiroga J, Belmar I, Álvarez K, Díaz G, Taubert A, Hermosilla C, Carretta MD, Burgos EA, Hidalgo MA. Oleic and linoleic acids induce the release of neutrophil extracellular traps via pannexin 1-dependent ATP release and P2X1 receptor activation. Front. Vet. Sci. (2020) doi: 10.3389/fvets.2020.00260

Allenspach K, Wieland B, Gröne A, Gaschen F. Chronic enteropathies in dogs: evaluation of risk factors for negative outcome. J Vet Intern Med. (2007) 21: 700–708. doi:10.1892/0891-6640

Amézaga J, Arranz S, Urruticoechea A, Ugartemendia G, Larraioz A, Louka M, Uriarte M, Ferreri C, Tueros I. Altered Red Blood Cell Membrane Fatty Acid Profile in Cancer Patients. Nutrients (2018) 10: 1853. doi:10.3390/nu10121853

Ananthakrishnan, A. N. et al. Genetic Polymorphisms in Fatty Acid Metabolism Modify the Association Between Dietaryn3: n6 Intake and Risk of Ulcerative Colitis: A Prospective Cohort Study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 23, 1898–1904 (2017)

Arab L (2003) Biomarkers of fat and fatty acid intake. J Nutr 133: Suppl 3925S–932S

Bardelli, A., Pantel, K. Liquid Biopsies, What We Do Not Know (Yet), Cancer Cell (2017) 31, 2017,172-179

Barrows BR, Parks EJ Contributions of different fatty acid sources to very low-density lipoprotein-triacylglycerol in the fasted and fed states. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2006) 91: 1446–1452

Bauer JJE. Essential fatty acid metabolism in dogs and cats. Rev Bras Zootec (2008) 37:20–27. doi:10.1590/S1516-35982008001300004

Baur LA, O'Connor J, Pan DA, Wu BJ, O'Connor MJ, Storlien LH. Relationships between the fatty acid composition of muscle and erythrocyte membrane phospholipid in young children

and the effect of type of infant feeding. Lipids (2000) 35:77-82. doi:10.1007/s11745-000-0497-y

Bays HE, Patel MD, Mavros P, Ramey DR, Tomassini JE, Tershakovec AM, Baxter CA. Realworld data to assess changes in low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and predicted cardiovascular risk after ezetimibe discontinuation post reporting of the Ezetimibe and Simvastatin in Hypercholesterolemia Enhances Atherosclerosis Regression trial. Journal of Clinical Lipidology/j.jacl (2017) 10.1016

Berliner, J. A., and A. D. Watson. A role for oxidized phospholipids in atherosclerosis. (2005) N. Engl. J. Med. 353: 9–11

Beguin P, Errachid A, Larondelle Y, Schneider YJ. Effect of polyunsaturated fatty acids on tight junctions in a model of the human intestinal epithelium under normal and inflammatory conditions. Food & Function, (2013) 4(6):923-931 DOI: 10.1039/c3fo60036j PMID: 23660640

Behling-Kelly E Serum lipoprotein changes in dogs with renal disease. J Vet Intern Med (2014) 28:1692–1698. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.12450 PMID: 25273603

Boretti FS, Burla B, Deuel J, Gao L, Wenk MR, Liesegang A, Sieber-Ruckstuhl NS. Serum lipidome analysis of healthy beagle dogs receiving different diets. Metabolomics (2020) 16:1. doi:10.1007/s11306-019-1621-3

Brenner R 'Antagonism between Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes in unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis' Future Lipidology. (2006) 1:5, 631-640

Buhner S, Nagel E, Korber J, et al. Ileal and colonic fatty acid profiles in patients with active Crohn's disease. Gut. (1994) 35:1424–1428.

(Burr GO, Burr MM. Nutrition classics from The Journal of Biological Chemistry 82:345-67, 1929. A new deficiency disease produced by the rigid exclusion of fat from the diet. Nutr Rev (1973) 31:248–249. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.1973.tb06008.x

Cao H, Gerhold K, Mayers JR, Wiest MM, Watkins SM, Hotamisligil GS. Identification of a lipokine, a lipid hormone linking adipose tissue to systemic metabolism. Cell (2008) 134:933–944. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.048

Casares D, Escribá PV, Rosselló CA. Membrane Lipid Composition: Effect on Membrane and Organelle Structure, Function and Compartmentalization and Therapeutic Avenues. Int J Mol Sci (2019) 20: doi:10.3390/ijms20092167

Castro-Correia C, Sousa S, Norberto S, Matos C, Domingues VF, Fontoura M, Calhau C. The Fatty Acid Profile in Patients with Newly Diagnosed Diabetes: Why It Could Be Unsuspected. International Journal of Pediatrics. (2017) Article ID 6424186

Chen C, Shah YM, Morimura K, Krausz KW, Miyazaki M, Richardson TA, Morgan ET, Ntambi JM, Idle JR, Gonzalez FJ. Metabolomics reveals that hepatic stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1 downregulation exacerbates inflammation and acute colitis. Cell Metab. (2008) Feb;7(2):135-47. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2007.12.003.

Costea, I. et al. Genes involved in the metabolism of poly-unsaturated fatty-acids (PUFA) and risk for Crohn's disease in children & young adults. PloS One. (2010) 5, e15672, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0015672

Costea, I. et al. Interactions between the dietary polyunsaturated fatty acid ratio and genetic factors determine susceptibility to pediatric Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. (2014) 146, 929–931

Craven M, Simpson JW, Ridyard AE, Chandler ML. Canine inflammatory bowel disease: retrospective analysis of diagnosis and outcome in 80 cases (1995-2002). J Small Anim Pract. 2004;45: 336–342. doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.2004.tb00245.x

Dandrieux JRS. Inflammatory bowel disease versus chronic enteropathy in dogs: are they one and the same? J Small Anim Pract. 2016;57(11):589–599. doi:10.1111/jsap.2016.57.issue-1

Das UN. Folic acid and polyunsaturated fatty acids improve cognitive function and prevent depression, dementia, and Alzheimer's disease--but how and why?. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids. 2008;78(1):11-19. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2007.10.006;

Diaz, M., Retamal, M. A., eds. Modulation of Ion Channels and Ionic Pumps by Fatty Acid. Implications in Physiology and Pathology. Lausanne: Front. Physiol. (2019). doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-755-7

Ebaugh FG Jr, Emerson CP, Ross JF The use of radioactive chromium 51 as an erythrocyte tagging agent for the determination or red cell survival in vivo. J Clin Invest (1953) 32: 1260–1276

Esteve-Comas, M. et al. Abnormal plasma polyunsaturated fatty acid pattern in non-active inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. (1993) 34, 1370–1373

Esteve-Comas, M. et al. Plasma polyunsaturated fatty acid pattern in active inflammatory bowel disease. Gut. (1992) 33, 1365–1369

Hwang DH, Kim JA, Lee JY. Mechanisms for the activation of Toll-like receptor 2/4 by saturated fatty acids and inhibition by docosahexaenoic acid. (2016) Eur. J. Pharmacol. 785, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.04.024)

Fan F, Mundra PA, Fang L, Galvin A, Moore XL, Weir JM, Wong G, White DA, Chin Dusting J, Sparrow MP, Meikle PJ, Dart AM. Lipidomic Profiling in Inflammatory Bowel Disease: Comparison Between Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's Disease. inflamm Bowel Dis. (2015) 10.1097

Fernandez-Banares F, Esteve-Comas M, Mane J, et al. Changes in mucosal fatty acid profile in inflammatory bowel disease and in experimental colitis: a common response to bowel inflammation. Clin Nutr. (1997) 16:177–183

Ferreri C, Chatgilialoglu C. Role of fatty acid-based functional lipidomics in the development of molecular diagnostic tools. Expert Rev Mol Diagn (2012) 12:767–780. doi:10.1586/erm.12.73

Ferreri C. And Chatgilialoglu C. 'Membrane Lipidomics for Personalized Health' Wiley. (2015) ISBN: 978-1-118-54032-9

Ferreri C, Masi A, Sansone A, Giacometti G, Larocca AV, Menounou G, Scanferlato R, Tortorella S, Rota D, Conti M, et al. Fatty Acids in Membranes as Homeostatic, Metabolic and Nutritional Biomarkers: Recent Advancements in Analytics and Diagnostics. Diagn Basel Switz (2016) 7: doi:10.3390/diagnostics7010001

Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem (1957) 226:497–509.

Frigolet ME, Gutiérrez-Aguilar R. The Role of the Novel Lipokine Palmitoleic Acid in Health and Disease. Adv Nutr Bethesda Md (2017) 8:173S-181S. doi:10.3945/an.115.011130

Fuchs B, Süss R, Teuber K, Eibisch M, Schiller J. Lipid analysis by thin-layer chromatography--a review of the current state. J Chromatogr A (2011) 1218:2754–2774. doi:10.1016/j.chroma.2010.11.066

Fuhrmann H, Zimmermann A, Gück T, Oechtering G. Erythrocyte and plasma fatty acid patterns in dogs with atopic dermatitis and healthy dogs in the same household. Can J Vet Res (2006) 70:191–196

Furtado JD, Beqari J, Campos H. Comparison of the Utility of Total Plasma Fatty Acids Versus those in Cholesteryl Ester, Phospholipid, and Triglyceride as Biomarkers of Fatty Acid Intake. Nutrients (2019) 11: doi:10.3390/nu11092081

Gai Z, Wang T, Visentin M, Kullak-Ublick GA, Fu X, Wang Z. Lipid Accumulation and Chronic Kidney Disease. Nutrients (2019) 11:722. doi:10.3390/nu11040722

German AJ, Hall EJ, Day MJ. Chronic intestinal inflammation and intestinal disease in dogs. J Vet Intern Med (2003) 17:8–20.doi:10.1111/j.1939-1676.2003.tb01318.x

Ghezzo A, Visconti P, Abruzzo PM, Bolotta A, Ferreri C, Gobbi G, et al. Oxidative Stress and Erythrocyte Membrane Alterations in Children with Autism: Correlation with Clinical Features. PLoS One. (2013) 8(6):e66418. pmid:23840462

Giacometti G, Ferreri C, Sansone A, Chatgilialoglu C, Marzetti C, Spyratou E, Georgakilas AG, Marini M, Abruzzo PM, Bolotta A, et al. High predictive values of RBC membrane-based diagnostics by biophotonics in an integrated approach for Autism Spectrum Disorders. Sci Rep (2017) 7:1–9. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-10361-7

Gültekin M, Pasa S, Ural K, Balikci C, Ekren Aşici G, et al. (2017) Oxidative status and lipid profile among dogs at different stages of visceral Leishmaniasis. Turkish Journal of Parasitology (2018) 41: 183–187. https://doi.org/10.5152/tpd.2017.5398 PMID: 29318986

Guo X, Li H, Xu H, Halim V, Zhang W, Wang H, Ong KT, Woo S-L, Walzem RL, Mashek DG, et al. Palmitoleate induces hepatic steatosis but suppresses liver inflammatory response in mice. PloS One (2012) 7:e39286. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0039286

Guy Cohen, Ofer Shamni, Yossef Avrahami, Ofir Cohen, Esther C. Broner, Natalie Filippov-Levy, Chryssostomos Chatgilialoglu, Carla Ferreri, Nurit Kaiser & Shlomo Sasson. Beta cell response to nutrient overload involves phospholipid remodelling and lipid peroxidation, Diabetologia 58 (2015) 1333-1343 Hall EJ . Gastrointestinal aspects of food allergy: a review. J Small Anim Pract (1994) 35:145–52.doi:10.1111/j.1748-5827.1994.tb03919.x

Hall JA, Jewell DE. Feeding healthy beagles medium-chain triglycerides, fish oil, and carnitine offsets age-related changes in serum fatty acids and carnitine metabolites. PloS One (2012) 7:e49510. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0049510

Han W. Lipidomics for studying metabolism. Nat Rev Endocrinol (2016) 12:668–679.

Harayama T, Riezman H. Understanding the diversity of membrane lipid composition [published correction appears in Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2019) Nov;20(11):715]. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2018;19(5):281–296. doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.138

Harris WS, Pottala JV, Varvel SA, Borowski JJ, Ward JN, McConnell JP. Erythrocyte omega-3 fatty acids increase and linoleic acid decreases with age: observations from 160,000 patients. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids (2013) 88:257–263. doi:10.1016/j.plefa.2012.12.004

Heude B, Ducimetière P, Berr C, EVA Study. Cognitive decline and fatty acid composition of erythrocyte membranes--The EVA Study. Am J Clin Nutr (2003) 77:803–808. doi:10.1093/ajcn/77.4.803

Hodson L, Skeaff CM, Fielding BA. Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. Prog Lipid Res (2008) 47:348–380. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2008.03.003

Holland WL and Summers SA. Sphingolipids, Insulin Resistance, and Metabolic Disease: New Insights from in Vivo Manipulation of Sphingolipid Metabolism. (2008) 29(4): 381–402/Endocr Rev.

Hu C, van der Heijden R, Wang M, van der Greef J, Hankemeier T, Xu G. Analytical strategies in lipidomics and applications in disease biomarker discovery. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci. (2009) 877(26):2836–46. 10.1016/j.jchromb.2009.01.038

Hulbert AJ, Pamplona R, Buffenstein R, Buttemer WA. Life and death: metabolic rate, membrane composition, and life span of animals. Physiol Rev (2007) 87:1175–1213. doi:10.1152/physrev.00047.2006

Huynh K, Martins RN, Meikle PJ. Lipidomic Profiles in Diabetes and Dementia. J Alzheimers Dis. (2017) 59(2):433-444,

Hwang, D. H., Kim, J. A., & Lee, J. Y. Mechanisms for the activation of Toll-like receptor 2/4 by saturated fatty acids and inhibition by docosahexaenoic acid. Eur. J. Pharmacol. (2016) 785, 24–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2016.04.024

Ito, Zensho; Uchiyama, Kan; Takami, Shinichiro; Koido, Shigeo; Odahara, Shunichi; Kubota, Takahiro; Ohkusa, Toshifumi. Utility of Fatty Acid Profile of Erythrocyte Membrane in Identifying Diagnostic Markers of Crohn's Disease. American Journal of Gastroenterology. (2015) Volume 110 - Issue - p S775

Jain M, Ngoy S, Sheth SA, Swanson RA, Rhee EP, Liao R, Clish CB, Mootha VK, Nilsson R. A systematic survey of lipids across mouse tissues. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2014) 306:E854-868. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00371.2013

Johnson ML, Lalia AZ, Dasari S, Pallauf M, Fitch M, Hellerstein MK, Lanza IR. Eicosapentaenoic acid but not docosahexaenoic acid restores skeletal muscle mitochondrial oxidative capacity in old mice. Aging Cell (2015) 14:734–743. doi:10.1111/acel.12352

Kalenyak K, Heilmann RM, Lest CHA van de, Brouwers JF, Burgener IA. Comparison of the systemic phospholipid profile in dogs diagnosed with idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease or food-responsive diarrhea before and after treatment. PLOS ONE (2019) 14:e0215435. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0215435

Klose C, Surma MA, Gerl MJ, Meyenhofer F, Shevchenko A, Simons K. Flexibility of a Eukaryotic Lipidome – Insights from Yeast Lipidomics. PLOS ONE (2012) 7:e35063. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0035063

Kuburovic V, Vekic J, Zeljkovic A, Carrie A, Kotur-Stevuljevic J, Bojanin D, Kosutic J, Spasojevic-Kalimanovska V, Miljkovic M, Kuburovic N, Couvert P 'The usefulness of advanced lipid and oxidative stress testing for diagnosis and management of low HDL-cholesterol phenotype: A case report' j.clinbiochem. (2017) 10.1016

Lipina C, Hundal HS. Lipid modulation of skeletal muscle mass and function. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle (2017) 8:190–201. doi:10.1002/jcsm.12144

Loef M, Schoones JW, Kloppenburg M, Ioan-Facsinay A. Fatty acids and osteoarthritis: different types, different effects. Joint Bone Spine (2019) 86:451–458. doi:10.1016/j.jbspin.2018.07.005

Ma, C., Vasu, R., Zhang, H. The role of long-chain fatty acids in inflammatory bowel disease. Mediators Inflam. (2019) article ID 8495913, 10 pages, https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8495913

Makrides M, Neumann MA, Byard RW, Simmer K, Gibson RA. Fatty acid composition of brain, retina, and erythrocytes in breast- and formula-fed infants. Am J Clin Nutr (1994) 60:189–194. doi:10.1093/ajcn/60.2.189

Mar JC. The rise of the distributions: why non-normality is important for understanding the transcriptome and beyond. Biophys Rev (2019) 11:89–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12551-018-0494-4

Markgraf DF, Al-Hasani H, Lehr S 'Lipidomics-Reshaping the Analysis and Perception of Type 2 Diabetes' Int J Mol Sci. (2016) 10.3390

Maulucci G, Cohen O, Daniel B, Sansone A, Petropoulou PI, Filou S, Spyridonidis A, Pani G, De Spirito M, Chatgilialoglu C, Ferreri C, Kypreos KE, Sasson S. Fatty acid-related modulations of membrane fluidity in cells: detection and implications. Free Radic Res. 2016 Nov;50(sup1):S40-S50

Mehta JR, Braund KG, Hegreberg GA, Thukral V. Lipid fluidity and composition of the erythrocyte membrane from healthy dogs and labrador retrievers with hereditary muscular dystrophy. Neurochem Res (1991) 16:129–135. doi:10.1007/BF00965700

Melchiorre M, Torreggiani A, Chatgilialoglu C, Ferreri C. Lipid markers of "geometrical" radical stress: synthesis of monotrans cholesteryl ester isomers and detection in human plasma. J Am Chem Soc. (2011) 133(38):15184–90. pmid:21851063

Minamoto Y, Otoni CC, Steelman SM, Büyükleblebici O, Steiner JM, Jergens AE, Suchodolski JS. Alteration of the fecal microbiota and serum metabolite profiles in dogs with idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease. Gut Microbes. (2015) 6(1):33-47. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2014.997612

Murakami M, Taketomi Y, Miki Y, Sato H, Hirabayashi T, Yamamoto K. Recent progress in phospholipase A2 research: from cells to animals to humans. Prog Lipid Res (2011) 50:152-192. doi: 10.1016/j.plipres.2010.12.001

Ni Z, Goracci L, Cruciani G, Fedorova M. Computational solutions in redox lipidomics – Current strategies and future perspectives. Free Radic Biol Med (2019) 144:110–123.

Nieto N, Giron MD, Suarez MD, Gil A. Changes in plasma and colonic mucosa fatty acid profiles in rats with ulcerative colitis induced by trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid. Dig Dis Sci. (1998) Dec;43(12):2688-95.

Nishida T, Miwa H, Shigematsu A, et al. Increased arachidonic acid composition of phospholipids in colonic mucosa from patients with active ulcerative colitis. Gut. (1987) 28:1002–1007.

Sansone A, Melchiorre M, Chatgilialoglu C, Ferreri C. Hexadecenoic fatty acid isomers: a chemical biology approach for human plasma biomarker development. Chem Res Toxicol (2013) 26:1703–1709. doi:10.1021/tx400287u

Sieber-Ruckstuhl NS, Burla B, Spoerel S, Schmid F, Venzin C, Cazenave-Gassiot A, Bendt AK, Torta F, Wenk MR, Boretti FS. Changes in the Canine Plasma Lipidome after Short- and Long-Term Excess Glucocorticoid Exposure. Sci Rep (2019) 9:6015. doi:10.1038/s41598-019-42190-1

Stoeckel K, Nielsen LH, Fuhrmann H, Bachmann L. Fatty acid patterns of dog erythrocyte membranes after feeding of a fish-oil based DHA-rich supplement with a base diet low in n-3 fatty acids versus a diet containing added n-3 fatty acids. Acta Vet Scand (2011) 53:57. doi:10.1186/1751-0147-53-57

Suchodolski JS, Markel ME, Garcia-Mazcorro JF, Unterer S, Heilmann RM, Dowd SE, Kachroo P, Ivanov I, Minamoto Y, Dillman EM, Steiner JM, Cook AK, Toresson L. The fecal microbiome in dogs with acute diarrhea and idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease. PLoS One (2012) 7:e51907.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051907

Sugihara K., Morhardt T. L., Kamada N.. The Role of Dietary Nutrients in Inflammatory Bowel Disease. Front.Immunol. (2019) 9, 3183; DOI=10.3389/fimmu.2018.03183

Svegliati-Baroni G, Pierantonelli I, Torquato P, et al. Lipidomic biomarkers and mechanisms of lipotoxicity in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Free Radic Biol Med (2019) 144:293–309. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2019.05.029

Pacheco S, Hillier K, Smith C. Increased arachidonic acid levels in phospholipids of human colonic mucosa in inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Sci (Lond). (1987) 73:361–364.

Pallot C, Mazzocco J, Meillon C, Semama DS, Chantegret C, Ternoy N, Martin D, Donier A, Gregoire S, Creuzot-Garcher CP, et al. Alteration of erythrocyte membrane polyunsaturated fatty acids in preterm newborns with retinopathy of prematurity. Sci Rep (2019) 9: doi:10.1038/s41598-019-44476-w

Pamplona R, Portero-Otín M, Riba D, Ruiz C, Prat J, Bellmunt MJ, Barja G. Mitochondrial membrane peroxidizability index is inversely related to maximum life span in mammals. J Lipid Res. (1998) Oct;39(10):1989-94.

Pradas I, Huynh K, Cabré R, Ayala V, Meikle PJ, Jové M, Pamplona R. Lipidomics Reveals a Tissue-Specific Fingerprint. Front Physiol (2018) 9: doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.011659

Prasinou P, Crisi P E, Chatgilialoglu C, Di Tommaso M, Sansone A, Gramenzi A, Belà B, De Santis F, Boari A, Ferreri C. The erythrocyte membrane lipidome of healthy dogs: creating a benchmark of fatty acid distribution and interval values. Front. Vet. Sci. (2020) doi:10.3389/fvets.2020.00502

Puca AA, Novelli V, Viviani C, P. Andrew P, Somalvico F, N.A. Cirillo NA, Chatgilialoglu C, Ferreri C. Lipid profile of erythrocyte membranes as possible biomarker of longevity. Rejuven. Res. (2008) 11, 63-72

Quehenberger O, Armando AM, Brown AH, Milne SB, Myers DS, Merrill AH, Bandyopadhyay S, Jones KN, Kelly S, Shaner RL, et al. Lipidomics reveals a remarkable diversity of lipids in human plasma. J Lipid Res (2010) 51:3299–3305. doi:10.1194/jlr.M009449

Renping Wang, Xueqin Gu, Weiquan Dai, Jun Ye, Feng Lu, Yifeng Chai, Guorong Fan, Frank J. Gonzalez, Gengli Duan, Yunpeng Qi. A lipidomics investigation into the intervention of celastrol in experimental colitis. Published in final edited form as: Mol Biosyst. (2016) 12(5): 1436–1444. doi: 10.1039/c5mb00864f

Risso A, Pellegrino FJ, Relling AE, Corrada Y. Effect of Long-Term Fish Oil Supplementation on Semen Quality and Serum Testosterone Concentrations in Male Dogs. Int J Fertil Steril (2016) 10:223–231. doi:10.22074/ijfs.2016.4913

Rojas-Gutierrez E, Muñoz-Arenas G, Treviño S, Espinosa B, Chavez R, Rojas K, Flores G, Díaz A, Guevara J 'Alzheimer's Disease and Metabolic Syndrome: A Link From Oxidative Stress and Inflammation to Neurodegeneration' Synapse. (2017) 10.1002/syn.21990

Rubio CP, Martínez-Subiela S, Hernández-Ruiz J, Tvarijonaviciute A, Cerón JJ, Allenspach K. Serum biomarkers of oxidative stress in dogs with idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease. Vet J. (2017) Mar;221:56-61. doi: 10.1016/j.tvjl.2017.02.003

Sansone A, Melchiorre M, Chatgilialoglu C, Ferreri C. Hexadecenoic fatty acid isomers: a chemical biology approach for human plasma biomarker development. Chem Res Toxicol. (2013) 26(11):1703–9. pmid:24083821

Sansone A, Tolika E, Louka M, Sunda V, Deplano S, Melchiorre M, Anagnostopoulos D, Chatgilialoglu C, Formisano C, Di Micco R, et al. Hexadecenoic Fatty Acid Isomers in Human Blood Lipids and Their Relevance for the Interpretation of Lipidomic Profiles. PloS One (2016) 11:e0152378. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0152378

Saulnier-Blache JS, Feigerlova E, Michel Halimi J, Gourdy P, Roussel R, Guerci B, Dupuy A, Bertrand-Michel J, Bascands J-L, Hadjadj S, Schanstra J P. Urinary Lysophopholipids Are Increased in Diabetic Patients With Nephropathy. J Diabetes Complications (2017) 31 (7), 1103-1108.

Scoville EA, Allaman MM, Adams DW, Motley AK, Peyton SC, Ferguson SL, Horst SN, Williams CS, Beaulieu DB, Schwartz DA, Wilson KT, Coburn LA. Serum Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Correlate with Serum Cytokines and Clinical Disease Activity in Crohn's Disease. Sci Rep. (2019) Feb 27;9(1):2882. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39232-z.

Seage EC, Drobatz KJ, Hess RS. Spectrophotometry and ultracentrifugation for measurement of plasma lipids in dogs with diabetes mellitus. J Vet Intern Med (2018) 32: 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.14880 PMID: 29193277

Señars A JA, García-Conde BJ, Sánchez MJ, Monforte BI. Pathogenic mechanisms of platelet hyperaggregation in diabetics (author's transl.). Sangre (Barc). (1981) 26(4):409-16

Sender R, Fuchs S, Milo R Revised Estimates for the Number of Human and Bacteria Cells in the Body. PLoS Biol (2016) 14(8): e1002533

Serhan, C. N., Chiang, N., Van Dyke, T. E. Resolving inflammation: dual anti-inflammatory and pro-resolution lipid mediators. Nat Rev Immunol (2008) 8, 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2294

Sergeant, S., Rahbar, E. & Chilton, F. H. Gamma-linolenic acid, Dihommo-gamma linolenic, Eicosanoids and Inflammatory Processes. Eur J Pharmacol. (2016) 785, 77–86

Sewell GW, Hannun YA, Han X, Koster G, Bielawski J, Goss V, Smith PJ, Rahman FZ, Vega R, Bloom SL, Walker AP, Postle AD, Segal AW. Lipidomic profiling in Crohn's disease: abnormalities in phosphatidylinositols, with preservation of ceramide, phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylserine composition j.biocel. (2012) 10.1016

Siobhan S, Mostyn A, Rutland CS. Fatty Acids in Veterinary Medicine and Research In: Fatty Acids (2017) 10:177–197. doi: 10.5772/intechopen.68440

Sitkin S, Pokrotnieks J. Alterations in Polyunsaturated Fatty Acid Metabolism and Reduced Serum Eicosadienoic Acid Level in Ulcerative Colitis: Is There a Place for Metabolomic Fatty Acid Biomarkers in IBD? Dig Dis Sci. (2018) Sep;63(9):2480-2481. doi: 10.1007/s10620-018-5182-5

Smith RE, Granick JL, Stauthammer CD, Polzin DJ, Heinrich DA, et al. Clinical consequences of hypertriglyceridemia-associated proteinuria in Miniature Schnauzers. J Vet Intern Med (2017) 31: 1740–1748. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.14833 PMID: 28941297

Snigdha S, Astarita G, Piomelli D, Cotman CW. Effects of diet and behavioral enrichment on free fatty acids in the aged canine brain. Neuroscience (2012) 202:326–333. doi:10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.12.002

Stoeckel K, Nielsen LH, Fuhrmann H, Bachmann L. Fatty acid patterns of dog erythrocyte membranes after feeding of a fish-oil based DHA-rich supplement with a base diet low in n-3 fatty acids versus a diet containing added n-3 fatty acids. Acta Vet Scand (2011) 53:57. doi:10.1186/1751-0147-53-57

Suchodolski JS, Markel ME, Garcia-Mazcorro JF, et al. The fecal microbiome in dogs with acute diarrhea and idiopathic inflammatory bowel disease. PLoS One (2012) 7:e51907.doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0051907

Timlin MT, Parks EJ Temporal pattern of de novo lipogenesis in the postprandial state in healthy men. Am J Clin Nutr (2005) 81: 35–42.

Tsimikas S, Kiechl S, Willeit J, Mayr M, Miller ER, Kronenberg F, Xu Q, Bergmark C, Weger S, Oberhollenzer F, Witztum JL. Oxidized phospholipids predict the presence and progression of carotid and femoral atherosclerosis and symptomatic cardiovascular disease: five-year prospective results from the Bruneck study. (2006) 47: 2219–2228/ J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.

Uchiyama K, Nakamura M, Odahara S, et al. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid diet therapy for patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. (2010) 16:1696–1707.

Uchiyama K, Odahara S, Nakamura M, Koido S, Katahira K, Shiraishi H, Ohkusa T, Fujise K, Tajiri H.The fatty acid profile of the erythrocyte membrane in initial-onset inflammatory bowel disease patients. Dig Dis Sci. (2013) May;58(5):1235-43. doi: 10.1007/s10620-012-2508-6.

Umhau JC, Dauphinais KM, Patel SH, Nahrwold DA, Hibbeln JR, Rawlings RR and DT George. The relationship between folate and docosahexaenoic acid in men. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition (2006) 60, 352–357

Undurti N Das. A defect in $\Delta 6$ and $\Delta 5$ desaturases may be a factor in the initiation and progression of insulin resistance, the metabolic syndrome and ischemic heart disease in South Asians. (2010) 10.1186/Lipids Health Dis.

Van Meer G, Voelker D R, Feigenson G W. Membrane lipids: where they are and how they behave. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2018) 10.1038

Wang L, Folsom AR, Zheng ZJ, Pankow JS, Echfeldt JH, ARIC Study Investigators. Plasma fatty acid composition and incidence of diabetes in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. (2003) 78(1):91-8/Am J Clin Nutr.

Walker CG, West AL, Browning LM, Madden J, Gambell JM, Jebb SA, Calder PC. The Pattern of Fatty Acids Displaced by EPA and DHA Following 12 Months Supplementation Varies between Blood Cell and Plasma Fractions. Nutrients (2015) 7:6281–6293. doi:10.3390/nu7085285

Washabau RJ, Day MJ, Willard MD, Hall EJ, Jergens AE, Mansell J, et al. Endoscopic, Biopsy, and Histopathologic Guidelines for the Evaluation of Gastrointestinal Inflammation in Companion Animals. Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine. (2010) 24: 10–26. doi:10.1111/j.1939-1676.2009.0443.x

Watson AD. Thematic review series: Systems Biology Approaches to Metabolic and Cardiovasular Disorders. Lipidomics: a global approach to lipid analysis in biological systems. The Journal of Lipid Research. (2006) 10.1194

Wiese DM, Horst SN, Brown CT, Allaman MM, Hodges ME, Slaughter JC, Druce JP, Beaulieu DB, Schwartz DA, Wilson KT, Coburn LA. Serum Fatty Acids Are Correlated with Inflammatory Cytokines in Ulcerative Colitis. PLoS One. (2016)11(5):e0156387. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156387. eCollection 2016

Wong MWK, Braidy N, Pickford R, Vafaee F, Crawford J, Muenchhoff J, Schofield P, Attia J, Brodaty H, Sachdev P, et al. Plasma lipidome variation during the second half of the human lifespan is associated with age and sex but minimally with BMI. PLOS ONE (2019) 14:e0214141. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0214141

Xenoulis PG, Suchodolski JS, Levinski MD, Steiner JM. Investigation of hypertriglyceridemia in healthy Miniature Schnauzers. J Vet Intern Med (2007) 21: 1224–1230. PMID: 18196730

Yilmaz Z, Senturk S. Characterisation of lipid profiles in dogs with parvoviral enteritis. J Small Anim Pract. (2007) 48: 643–650. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-5827.2007.00391.x PMID: 17617157

Zhao Y-T, Cheng X-I, Lin E-C. Lipidomics applications for discovering biomarkers of diseases in clinical chemistry. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol (2014) 313:1–26.

Zhao YY, Cheng XL, Lin RC, Wei F. Lipidomics applications for disease biomarker discovery in mammal models. Biomark Med. (2015) 9(2):153-168. doi:10.2217/bmm.14.810.

Zhao Y-Y, Cheng X-L, Wei F, Bai X, Tan X-J, Lin R-C, Mei Q. Intrarenal Metabolomic Investigation of Chronic Kidney Disease and its TGF-β1 Mechanism in Induced-adenine Rats using UPLC Q-TOF/HSMS/MSE. J Proteome Res (2012) 12:692–703

Zhu D, Bungart BL, Yang X, Zhumadilov Z, Lee JC-M, Askarova S. Role of membrane biophysics in Alzheimer's-related cell pathways. Front Neurosci (2015) 9:186. doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00186

Zong G, Ye X, Sun L, Li H, Yu Z, Hu FB, Sun Q, Lin X. Associations of erythrocyte palmitoleic acid with adipokines, inflammatory markers, and the metabolic syndrome in middle-aged and older Chinese. Am J Clin Nutr (2012) 96:970–976. doi:10.3945/ajcn.112.040204

ANNEXES

Annex 1: The erythrocyte membrane lipidome of healthy dogs: creating a benchmark of fatty acid distribution and interval values, Research publication in Frontiers in Veterinary Science, section Animal Nutrition and Metabolism

Annex 2: Proceedings of 28th Congress of European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine – Companion Animals (ECVIM-CA), abstract '*The erythrocyte membrane lipidome profile in healthy dogs and changes in dogs with diabetes mellitus*', published on Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine – JVIM

Annex 3: Proceedings of 29th Congress of European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine – Companion Animals (ECVIM-CA), abstract '*The paradigm of erythrocyte mem-brane lipidome in healthy dogs: first evaluation of the op-timal interval values of a fatty acid cluster*', published on Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine – JVIM

Annex 4: Cyclin-CDK Complexes are Key Controllers of Capacitation-Dependent Actin Dynamics in Mammalian Spermatozoa, Research Publication

Annex 5: Graphene Oxide Improves In Vitro Fertilization in Mice with no Impact on Embryo Development and Preserves the Membrane Microdomains Architecture. Accepted Research Publication

Annex 6: Poster presented in Annual Meeting of Doctoral Programs in Molecular and Cellular Biotechnology

Annex 7: Presentation used in the oral communication delivered in the 28th Congress of European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine – Companion Animals (ECVIM-CA)

Annex 8: Presentation used in the oral communication delivered in the 29th Congress of European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine – Companion Animals (ECVIM-CA)

Annex 9: Presentation used in the oral communication delivered in the 1st Repeat Annual Meeting

Annex 10: Presentation used in the oral communication delivered in the 2nd Repeat Annual Meeting

Annex 11: Poster presented in in the 29th Congress of European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine – Companion Animals (ECVIM-CA)

Annex 12: Abstract accepted for oral communication delivered by a colleague in the 72° Conference SISVet 2018

Annex 13: Abstract (a) accepted for oral communication delivered by a colleague in the 72° Conference SISVet 2019

Annex 14: Abstract (b) accepted for oral communication delivered by a colleague in the 72° Conference SISVet 2019